

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Persons who frequently visit the psychiatric emergency room. Who are they and what are their needs?

Schmidt, Manuela

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Schmidt, M. (2018). Persons who frequently visit the psychiatric emergency room. Who are they and what are their needs?.

Total number of authors: 1

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Persons who frequently visit the psychiatric emergency room

Who are they and what are their needs?

MANUELA SCHMIDT FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY







**Department of Health Sciences** 



ISBN 978-91-7619-660-1

# Persons who frequently visit the psychiatric emergency room

Who are they and what are their needs?

Manuela Schmidt



LICENTIATE THESIS June 2018

Department of Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine Lund University Sweden

# Persons who frequently visit the psychiatric emergency room

Who are they and what are their needs?

Manuela Schmidt



Copyright Manuela Schmidt

Paper 1 © Taylor & Francis

Paper 2 © by Manuela Schmidt, Joakim Ekstrand, and Anita Bengtsson-Tops (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Health Sciences

ISBN 978-91-7619-660-1

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental

# Table of Contents

Abbreviations	7
Definitions	8
Original papers	10
Abstract	11
Introduction	12
Background	14
Mental health and mental illness Mental illness in Sweden	14 15
Healthcare and social care services in Sweden Developments within the field of psychiatry Psychiatric emergency rooms in Sweden	16 17 18
Increase in psychiatric emergency room visits	19
Needs	
Self-assessment of needs within psychiatric healthcare	22
Aim	23
Overall aim of the thesis	23
Specific aims	23
Theoretical framework	24
Methods	25
Design	25
Research context	26
Data collection Study I Study II	27 27 28
Participants	30
Study I Study II	30 30

Analysis	30
Statistics	30
Qualitative content analysis	31
Ethical considerations	33
Results	36
Study I	
Study II	
Self-expressed needs	38
Self-assessed needs	
Discussion	41
Discussion	41 41
Discussion Methodological considerations General discussion of the results	41 41 42
Discussion Methodological considerations General discussion of the results Conclusions	41 41 42 50
Discussion Methodological considerations General discussion of the results Conclusions Implications for practice	41 41 42 50 50
Discussion Methodological considerations General discussion of the results Conclusions Implications for practice Future research	41 41 42 50 50 50
Discussion Methodological considerations General discussion of the results Conclusions Implications for practice Future research Acknowledgements	41 41 42 50 50 50 50

# Abbreviations

#### ICD 10 International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th revision, by WHO

F0	Mental disorders due to known physiological conditions
F1 other	Mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use
F10	Alcohol-related disorders
F11	Opioid-related disorders
F19	Other psychoactive substance-related disorders
F2	Schizophrenia, schizotypal, delusional, and other non-mood psychotic disorders
F3 other	Mood (affective) disorders
F32	Major depressive disorder, single episode
F4 other	Anxiety, dissociative, stress-related, somatoform and other nonpsychotic mental disorders
F41	Other anxiety disorders
F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders
F5	Behavioral syndromes associated with physiological disturbances and physical factors
F6	Disorders of adult personality and behavior
F7	Intellectual disabilities
F8	Pervasive and specific developmental disorders
F9	Behavioral and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence
F99	Unspecified mental disorder
Z	Factors influencing health status and contact
	~

- PER Psychiatric emergency room (a psychiatric care unit, open 24 hours a day, seven days a week)
- WHO World Health Organization

# Definitions

Holistic perspective:	The person is seen as a subject and as a whole, and his/her whole life situation (encompassing the biological, psychological, social, cultural, and spiritual dimensions) is taken into account (cf. Arvidsson and Skärsäter, 2006, PRF & SSF, 2014, Brenner et al., 2016). The holistic perspective is part of the humanistic approach.
Mental illness:	An umbrella term covering a broad range of mental health problems that restrict the individual's ability to function well in and cope with everyday life. It includes both severe psychiatric illness such as schizophrenia as well a minor and moderate conditions such as depression (Bremberg and Dalman, 2015, Public Health Agency of Sweden (Folkhälsomyndigheten), 2016).
Need:	A subjectively experienced problem of the person-in- care that may be communicated/expressed or self- assessed and may be met by means of a conscious and deliberate intervention.
Person who frequently visits PERs:	A person making five or more PER visits during a period of 12 months (Aagaard et al., 2014, Schmidt et al., 2018).
Psychiatric healthcare:	Is provided by Sweden's county councils/regions and includes specialized psychiatric care, primary healthcare, and emergency care focusing on persons with mental illness.
Social care services:	Are provided by Sweden's municipalities. These include various support functions, for example, social rehabilitation, child care, home care, mental health care, and family counselling for all municipal inhabitants, including the elderly, families, and persons with psychiatric disabilities.

Triage:	A systematic and standardized interview/examination
	conducted by triage nurses on patients visiting an
	emergency room to prioritize and risk-assess patients
	according to the severity of their illness. In Sweden, the
	Rapid Emergency Triage and Treatment System
	(RETTS) is used in most emergency rooms (SBU 2010).
	In PERs, RETTS-psy is often used.
Triage nurses:	Triage is conducted by triage nurses. In the context of this thesis, triage nurses refer to registered and assistant nurses working in triage in PERs.

# Original papers

This licentiate thesis is based on the following papers:

I: Schmidt, M., Ekstrand, J., & Bengtsson-Tops, A. (2018). Clinical profiles and temporal patterns of psychiatric emergency room visitors in Sweden. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 72(3), 197–204.

II: Schmidt, M., Ekstrand, J., & Bengtsson-Tops, A. Self-expressed and self-assessed needs in persons who frequently visit psychiatric emergency rooms in Sweden. *Submitted*.

Reprints are made with kind permission of the publisher.

## Abstract

Persons who frequently visit psychiatric emergency rooms (PERs) account for a disproportionately high number of total visits to PERs. They have needs just as any other human beings do. Yet in addition, they also have specific daily function needs, service needs, and needs for professional healthcare.

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate who persons frequently visiting PERs in Sweden are and what needs they have. Both studies I and II were conducted in southern Sweden. Study I is a quantitative mapping study describing who persons who frequently visit PERs are, what characterizes them, and what characterizes their visits, while study II investigates their self-expressed and self-assessed needs using a mixed-methods design.

For data collection, a large-scale registry was used in study I, while in study II an interviewer-administered manual was applied consisting of open-ended questions and validated instruments covering the person-in-care's needs assessment, alcohol and drug use, exposure to violence, and social network. Quantitative data were analysed using descriptive statistics and non-parametric tests (I, II) and qualitative data were analysed using qualitative content analysis (II).

The results indicate that persons who frequently visit PERs represented 8.1% of the total number of PER visitors but accounted for 38.3% of the total number of PER visits (I). They differed significantly from the rest of the PER visitors in terms of gender, diagnoses, hospital admissions, and temporal patterns of visits. Differences were also found in the distance between the PERs and the home municipalities of the visitors (I). In addition, they reported problems in many need areas in life, involving physical and psychiatric health problems as well as financial, emotional, and social problems (II). Results also indicate that they are often subject to violence and have limited social networks (II).

The results may be used for planning, developing, and evaluating interventions targeting the needs of persons who frequently visit PERs, which is in line with a person-centred approach. Such an approach might eventually address their needs better, reduce their suffering, and consequently result in fewer PER visits.

# Introduction

Persons who frequently visit psychiatric emergency rooms (PERs) are a vulnerable group of individuals (Aday, 2001, WHO, 2010). Many of them struggle in expressing their needs, which in turn leads to difficulties in mastering their lives in general and in interacting with psychiatric healthcare and social care services in particular (Saarento et al., 1998b). They not only have healthcare needs, but also social care needs. Like many persons suffering from mental illness, persons frequently visiting PERs struggle with stigmatization, discrimination, exposure to violence, and emotional suffering and are at high risk of comorbidity and premature mortality (Goodman et al., 2001, Keyes, 2002, Rüsch et al., 2005, WHO, 2013, Khalifeh et al., 2015). Although they have numerous contacts with psychiatric healthcare and social care services, they appear not to receive the help they need to meet their needs, but incorporate those contacts with PERs into their otherwise limited social networks (Nordström et al., 2009, Aagaard et al., 2014). In addition, it has been argued that persons who frequently visit PERs account for a disproportionately high number of total visits to PERs, claiming a considerable proportion of their already limited resources (Ellison et al., 1986, Ledoux and Minner, 2006, Chaput and Lebel, 2007a).

Due to the growing number of persons suffering from mental illness and their demand for interventions, healthcare providers such as psychiatric care, including PERs, have not yet adequately adjusted to the growing demand. Consequently, the gap between the need for treatment and its provision is wide (WHO, 2017).

To improve healthcare delivery to as well as the life situation and quality of life of persons who frequently visit PERs, two steps are proposed here: first, related issues of defining and characterizing these persons ought to be addressed so that they can consistently be identified; second, their needs ought to be identified. Since their visits are recurring over time, persons frequently visiting PERs appear to have continuous unmet needs that prolong their suffering and drain healthcare services' resources.

This thesis applies a person-centred approach and aims to determine: who persons frequently visiting PERs are, what characterizes them, and what characterizes their visits (I); what their needs are and to what extent they are met (II). Needs cannot be objectively defined (Brewin et al., 1987, Slade, 1994) but should be understood

in terms of the person possessing them. By applying a person-centred approach, the subjective experience of persons frequently visiting PERs is emphasized.

From an international perspective, the phenomenon of persons frequently visiting PERs is well studied, with a particular focus on North America and Europe. From a Nordic perspective, research is scarce, comprising only one comparative study of Denmark and Finland (Saarento et al., 1998b) and a few studies conducted in Denmark (Buus, 2011, Aagaard et al., 2014) and Finland (Saarento et al., 1998a). A recent literature review found that no studies have explored persons who frequently visit PERs in Sweden (Schmidt, 2018). Furthermore, there is a lack of studies investigating the temporal patterns of these visits, or the needs of persons who frequently visit PERs. The results of studies I and II may lay the groundwork for adjusting interventions in both psychiatric healthcare and social care services to improve the life situations and quality of life of persons frequently visiting PERs by meeting their needs more efficiently and effectively.

# Background

### Mental health and mental illness

The prevalence of mental illness worldwide and in Sweden is increasing, and its global burden is underestimated (Vigo et al., 2016). Its disease burden is among the highest. Despite this, treatment rates of mental illness are low in low-, middle-, as well as high-income countries (WHO, 2017). Mental illness and its treatment are often related to stigma and personal failure, which makes those with mental illness suffer not only invisibly but also in silence and loneliness.

Mental health is a complex phenomenon that is hard to define, as is mental illness, and universal definitions have yet to be found (Townsend, 2015, Videbeck, 2017). Within the psychiatric care context, attention has long concentrated entirely on treating illness, ignoring health-promoting interventions (Jormfeldt et al., 2008) and recovery approaches (Barker and Buchanan-Barker, 2010).

There are many different perspectives on health and illness, two of which are the most prominent in the literature. *The biomedical perspective*, particularly dominant in the Western world (Bentall, 2014, Bowling, 2014), is based on the assumption that health is the absence of disease. Health and illness form opposites along a one-dimensional continuum. This model is limited in applicability to mental illness since it fails to adequately address the multidimensional complexity of the illness, i.e., only the objective, measurable, psychical, and chemical dimensions of the disease can be addressed. Illness, i.e., the person's own perception of the experience of symptoms or feelings, is ignored, as are the social, cultural, and, to a great extent, psychological causes of a disease. The second is the *holistic perspective*, i.e., the humanistic perspective, which emphasizes that health means wholeness, implying that 'health cannot exist unless all aspects of the person and the person's world are invoked' (Barker, 1999, p. 26).

Theorists attempting to define or operationalize mental health agree that mental health should consist not merely of the absence of mental illness, i.e., the absence of something negative, but also the presence of something positive (WHO, 1948, Jahoda, 1958, Ryff and Singer, 1998). Research also usually emphasises various dimensions of individuals' functioning. Keyes (2005, p. 539), for example, conceives mental health "as a complete state in which individuals are free of

psychopathology and flourishing with high levels of emotional, psychological and social well-being" and views mental health as an integrated and essential part of health (WHO, 1948).

Despite being highly interrelated, mental health and mental illness are viewed here as belonging to separate continua (Keyes, 2002, 2005), i.e., mental health can be present (flourishing) or absent (languishing), and so can mental illness; for example, depression can be present or absent.



Figure 1. The mental health and mental illness continua.

This is in line with several health models and theories proposing that health and illness coexist in varying degrees throughout life, forming a multidimensional continuum (Eriksson, 1984, Antonovsky, 1996, Moch, 1998). Even nearly unbearable suffering and experiences of health can coexist (Eriksson and Herberts, 1995) and health is an ever-changing process and a process of becoming (Eriksson, 1984).

In this thesis, mental illness is used as an umbrella term covering a broad range of mental health problems that restrict the individual's ability to function well in and cope with everyday life. It includes both severe psychiatric problems such as schizophrenia as well as minor and moderate conditions such as anxiety (Bremberg and Dalman, 2015, Public Health Agency of Sweden (Folkhälsomyndigheten), 2016).

#### Mental illness in Sweden

Mental illness is considered one of Sweden's major public health problems. The prevalence of mental illness in Sweden is like that in many other countries in Europe (The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen), 2009), and has increased in recent decades, as has the number of persons seeking care. According to Sweden's Public Health Agency (2016), which includes in their definition of mental illness both severe psychiatric problems (such as schizophrenia or major depression) as well as mild and moderate symptoms of mental conditions (such as sleeping problems or anxiety), 20-40% of the Swedish population suffer from mental illness (The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen), 2005, Persson et al., 2006, Public Health Agency of Sweden (Folkhälsomyndigheten), 2016). Another source claims that more than half of the

population suffer from mental illness at some time during their lives (Brenner et al., 2016).

The most prevalent psychiatric diagnoses in Sweden are neuroses/anxiety (F40–F49) (8–10% of the total population), substance abuse (F10–F19) (5–7%), and depression (F32) (3–5%) (The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen), 2009). In 2016, 951,849 visits were made by 331,322 persons to specialized outpatient care units in Sweden, receiving psychiatric diagnoses (ICD F00–F99), an increase of 51% in visits and 41% in number of patients compared with 2010. Mental illness is also the main reason for sick leave in Sweden, with severe stress (F43) being the most common psychiatric sick leave diagnosis (Brenner et al., 2016, Insurance Agency (Försäkringskassan), 2017).

Persons suffering from mental illness are considered to have worse life circumstances than does the general population in Sweden and worldwide (Nordström et al., 2009). Their lives are often characterized by lack of support from society, social marginalization, and poor health (Green et al., 2003, Nordström et al., 2009), leading to lower quality of life and well-being (Slade et al., 2005, Wiersma, 2006). Mental illness is also associated with feelings of guilt and shame (Vuokila-Oikkonen, 2002), which can even prevent the person from seeking care (Wiklander et al., 2003). Furthermore, persons suffering from mental illness experience violence to a significantly higher degree than does the general population (Goodman et al., 2001, Khalifeh et al., 2015). Certain groups in society are at significantly higher risk of experiencing mental illness, such as persons living in poverty, suffering from chronic health conditions, minority groups, persons imprisoned, exposed to conflict, and young unemployed persons (WHO, 2013). Consequently, mental illness itself can lead to poverty (WHO, 2010). stigmatization and discrimination (Rüsch et al., 2005, Thornicroft et al., 2007), conflict, and unemployment (Insurance Agency (Försäkringskassan), 2017). Furthermore, persons suffering from mental illness are at increased risk of premature mortality (WHO, 2013, Aagaard et al., 2016) and comorbidity (Keyes, 2004, Smith et al., 2014).

### Healthcare and social care services in Sweden

Healthcare and social care services in Sweden are based on a socialized welfare system that addresses both somatic and mental illness and is primarily financed by taxes. The provision of psychiatric healthcare and social care services is regulated by law and policies, and is based on the principle that everyone is of equal value and has equal rights and that autonomy and integrity of the patients need to be respected (SFS, 2017:30). Furthermore, the responsibility for psychiatric

healthcare and social care services is shared between national government, municipalities (N = 290), and county councils (N = 21) as a result of the implementation of the Mental Health Care Reform in 1995, which imposed a new care structure on psychiatric care (SOU, 1992, Stefansson and Hansson, 2001). The objective of the reform was to improve the conditions in society and the quality of life for persons with mental illness (The Swedish Government, 1994). While the national government is responsible for promoting research, auditing processes, and providing subventions and incentives within specific areas, the municipalities are obliged to provide social care services such as housing, social support, and activities for persons with psychiatric disabilities. This legislation emphasizes participation, countering discrimination, and self-determination and is embedded in the Social Services Act (SOL) (SFS, 2001:453) and the Act Concerning Support and Service to Persons with Certain Functional Impairments (LSS) (SFS, 1993:387). However, the design of goals and priorities can differ among municipalities because they self-govern their own budgets, which can result in large variation in or lack of support functions provided by the municipalities to persons suffering from mental illness or psychiatric disabilities. Health and medical care is provided by the county councils. This includes primary healthcare, specialized psychiatric care, emergency care, and in- and outpatient care and is regulated by the Health and Medical Services Act (HSL) (SFS, 2017:30). Meanwhile it can be a challenge to provide good continuous healthcare and social care services and to collaborate across the boundaries of organizations applying different perspectives and various legislations (Brenner et al., 2016, Janlöv et al., 2016), yet collaboration between all parts of the system is stipulated by those laws.

#### **Developments within the field of psychiatry**

Psychiatry is a very dynamic yet complicated discipline and, not least, a demanding occupational field (Hem et al., 2008, Morse et al., 2012). It is a medical speciality and a relatively young discipline. In Sweden, psychiatric healthcare was established around 1850 with a focus on care administered in mental hospitals (The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen), 1997) applying a biomedical perspective.

Since the 1960s, the humanistic approach within psychiatry has become more prevalent, resulting in the deinstitutionalization process on a global scale. One of the purposes was to increase the quality of life for persons with severe mental illnesses by moving away from institutions to the community setting, which was well in line with the 'antipsychiatric' approach that criticized the authoritarian hegemony of the mental hospitals and sought a more humane and democratic approach based on patient experiences. Sweden participated in this movement as well and closed its larger mental hospitals. By the 1990s, all mental hospitals had been closed in Sweden. Though with good intentions, economic and political forces within the healthcare environment soon led to fewer and shorter in-patient beds, fewer out-patient services, more admissions, service gaps, as well as inadequate housing and community support services; mental health patients were in and out of treatment faster (Brown, 2005).

In retrospect, the relatively fast process of deinstitutionalization may also have contributed to an increase in the number of persons being homeless, an increase in violence in a societal context to and by persons suffering from mental illness (Monahan et al., 2017), and increase of prisoners in forensic institutions in Sweden (Åsberg and Agerberg, 2016). It also contributed to a greater need for PER, introducing the phenomena of recidivism and revolving doors (Kastrup, 1987, Botha et al., 2010, Aagaard et al., 2014).

#### Psychiatric emergency rooms in Sweden

In Sweden, the initiation of deinstitutionalization (Dencker and Gottfries, 1991, Reitan, 2016) as well as the Mental Health Care Reform (SOU, 1992, Stefansson and Hansson, 2001, Arvidsson and Ericson, 2005) had a paramount effect on the development of PERs and the staff working in them.

The main task of PERs is to function as gatekeepers assessing and prioritizing, by means of triage, visitors' mental health problems and needs according to their urgency and severity in order to initiate immediate intervention and treatment (Buus, 2011). The triage system has been shown to play a significant role in emergency room resource distribution in general, as it prioritizes resource use according to clinical urgency (Smart et al., 1999). In Sweden, the Rapid Emergency Triage and Treatment System – psychiatry (RETTS-psy) has been used in most PERs (SBU 2010) since 2011; it is executed by triage nurses, who often are also the first ones to meet the visitors.

Nowadays in Sweden, PERs are usually hospital based and operate 24 hours a day, serving either smaller or larger urban areas. Provision may differ from that in other countries, where psychiatric emergency care can be administered by ambulance or mobile assessment teams (Brown, 2005, Alves et al., 2013).

At PERs, staff usually works in teams, which can comprise psychiatric nurses, psychiatric assistant nurses, attending physicians and psychiatrists, and physicians on call (Currier and Allen, 2003, Ottosson et al., 2010). What is considered an "appropriate" psychiatric emergency varies (Chaput et al., 2008). In its most elementary form, it can be characterized as an interaction between a healthcare professional and a patient within the context of a crisis (Chaput et al., 2008). In a

psychiatric emergency, the condition is often intrinsically subjective (Swartz, 1987), which complicates assessment of the urgency and severity of the condition.

### Increase in psychiatric emergency room visits

In recent decades, a significant increase in the number of PER visits has been noted worldwide (Brown, 2005). In Denmark, the number of PER visits has increased with 151.3% from 1995 to 2004 (Aagaard et al., 2014), while other sources report increases of up to 400-500% (Videbeck, 2017). Reasons for the increase are manifold: an increasing number of persons suffering from mental illness (WHO, 2013, Whiteford et al., 2013, Vos et al., 2015), the long-term effects of deinstitutionalization and downsizing of hospital beds, increasing rates of substance abuse, service gaps, and increasing community social problems (Schmidt, 2018). Another possible reason for the increase in PER visits may be that persons suffering from mental illness are using PERs as a primary care source (Eppling, 2008), when in fact they represent a medical specialty. Furthermore, for many who lack socioeconomic resources or access to care, PERs also represent a safety net (Young et al., 2005, Nicks and Manthey, 2012), refuge, and part of their social network (Aagaard et al., 2014). Although persons who visit PERs have several points of contact with psychiatric healthcare and social care services (Nordström et al., 2009, Aagaard et al., 2014), PERs are a preferred place to go, not least due to their availability 24 hours a day, seven days a week. These findings are supported by several studies finding that 43-64% of PER visits were not urgent (Vigiser et al., 1984, Chaput et al., 2008, Adeosun et al., 2014), recalling similar findings regarding somatic emergency rooms (Uscher-Pines et al., 2013).

Principally, the first-line care for persons suffering from mental illness in Sweden is primary care (Skårderud et al., 2010), including both the treatment and rehabilitation of those with mild and moderate symptoms, while specialized open psychiatric care treats more severe forms of mental illness.

#### Persons who frequently visit psychiatric emergency rooms

It has been argued that persons frequently visiting PERs are a relatively small group, but one that accounts for a disproportionately high number of total visits to PERs and claims a considerable amount of their limited resources (Ellison et al., 1986, Saarento et al., 1998a, Pasic et al., 2005, Ledoux and Minner, 2006, Chaput and Lebel, 2007a, Chaput and Lebel, 2007b).

Judging from the literature, it is challenging to define persons who frequently visit PERs, with the defining usage ranging from three or more visits per year (Surles and McGurrin, 1987, Richard-Lepouriel et al., 2015) to six or more visits per year (Arfken et al., 2004). Another way used for defining these persons is in terms of patients belonging to the upper tenth percentile of contacts (Saarento et al., 1998b). This variety of definitions makes it difficult to compare or summarize results from this field of study. In addition, differences in healthcare systems, social welfare systems, and demographic varieties further explain difficulties in identifying characteristics of persons who frequently visit PERs (Aagaard et al., 2014). Also complicating matters is the diverse terminology used when referring to persons frequently visiting PERs, for example, frequent visitors, recurrent visitors, frequent repeaters, recurrent utilizers, repeat users, and heavy users. In line with Aagaard (2014), empirically derived observations, and, the classification used by the PER initiating this research, a definition of five visits or more within a period of 12 months, was applied here.

Previous studies focusing on North America and Europe have identified a number of characteristics of persons who frequently visit PERs; they tend, for example, to be: male (Ledoux and Minner, 2006), young (Chaput and Lebel, 2007a), single (Boyer et al., 2011), living alone (Saarento et al., 1998a, Pasic et al., 2005), homeless (Arfken et al., 2004), unemployed (Pasic et al., 2005), economically impaired (Bruffaerts et al., 2005), without reliable social support (Pasic et al., 2005), and socially disabled (Ledoux and Minner, 2006). In relation to those socioeconomic factors, the cause-and-effect relationship is often unclear, and it is questionable whether persons who frequently visit PERs are homeless, single, or socially disabled due to their mental illness or whether these factors can be seen as the main contributors to or causes of their mental illness (Gayer-Anderson and Morgan, 2013). Furthermore, it has also been found that persons who frequently visit PERs suffer from mental illness such as personality disorders (Saarento et al., 1998b, Pasic et al., 2005), pharmaceutical drug abuse (Bruffaerts et al., 2005, Ledoux and Minner, 2006), and severe mental illness such as schizophrenia (Chaput and Lebel, 2007b, Chaput and Lebel, 2007a) and have experienced prior psychiatric hospitalization (Ellison et al., 1989, Arfken et al., 2004).

In the Nordic countries, research on persons frequently visiting PERs is scarce. The most recent study was conducted in Denmark in 2014 (Aagaard et al., 2014). Two earlier studies from 1998 focused on persons who frequently visit PERs in Finland (Saarento et al., 1998a) and a comparison of PERs' visitors in Denmark and Finland (Saarento et al., 1998b). Studies in a Swedish context on persons who frequently visit PERs are lacking. There is a need for mapping studies examining the characteristics of persons who visit PERs in general and who frequently visit PERs in particular. Furthermore, the temporal patterns of PER visits have rarely

been investigated. Such information may be of use when tailoring interventions for this specific group.

This substantial variation in characteristics indicates a rather heterogeneous profile of this group, which adds to the complexity of providing good care for each of those persons in care. Consequently, this complexity indicates a need for a more person-centred approach of caring for these people (Barker, 2001, Jormfeldt et al., 2013) that aims at facilitating recovery and empowerment. According to Barker's person-centred approach (Barker and Buchanan-Barker, 2005) and in line with the above, these characteristics indicate that persons who frequently visit PERs experience problems carrying out tasks in important areas of life over an extended period due to their mental illness (National Psychiatrc Coordination (Nationell Psykiatrisamordning), 2006). Not only do they have needs like any other human being, but they also have specific needs for professional healthcare (Bengtsson-Tops, 2014).

### Needs

In a healthcare context, a need can be defined as a lack of health or welfare, or a lack of access to care (Brewin, 1992). Health needs incorporate wider social and environmental aspects of health, such as housing and diet (Wright et al., 1998). It is an important concept not only for the planning and management of health services but also for the use of resources. According to Brewin et al. (1987), a need for care exists when the level of functioning falls below a minimum specified level due to certain remediable causes. Economists, sociologists, philosophers, and healthcare staff have different views of how to define needs (Culyer, 1976, Bradshaw, 1972) and of who should define them. The most influential view of needs remains Bradshaw's sociological perspective (1972), which distinguishes between normative needs (i.e., defined by a professional based on a desirable standard), felt needs, expressed needs, and comparative needs (e.g., people receiving care while others with similar characteristics do not).

In a psychiatric context, persons-in-care experience multiple need areas in life, such as basic, health, social, psychological, daily function, and service needs (Phelan et al., 1995, Slade et al., 1998). In line with a person-centred approach emphasizing the person-in-care's autonomy, this thesis understands need as a subjectively experienced problem of the person-in-care that may be communicated/expressed or self-assessed and may be met by means of a conscious and deliberate intervention. Within a psychiatric healthcare context, previous studies' ratings of patient needs are often staff based (e.g., Ruggeri et al., 2004, Power et al., 2013, Sirotich et al., 2016), since patients in psychiatric care have

been considered too ill to actively assess their own needs (Arvidsson, 2001). Using self-assessment of persons' need areas may, however, be more applicable in a person-centred approach.

#### Self-assessment of needs within psychiatric healthcare

Individual needs assessment refers to a systematic method of identifying health needs at the individual level and planning services and interventions to meet these needs (Wright et al., 1998, Wing et al., 2001). A health need is met when an intervention has been effective.

Needs can be assessed in various ways. In psychiatric healthcare, needs are commonly assessed by healthcare professionals such as nurses or even by significant others (e.g. Ruggeri et al., 2004, Power et al., 2013, Sirotich et al., 2016). The most commonly used instruments for assessing needs are the *Camberwell Assessment of Need* (CAN) and the *Camberwell Assessment of Need* Short Appraisal Schedule (CANSAS) (Hansson et al., 1995, Phelan et al., 1995, Wennström et al., 2004, Ericson, 2013). These are based on a quick assessment of 22 problem or need areas in life, covering basic, health, social, daily function, and service needs (Slade et al., 1998). This instrument also allows patients to self-assess their needs and was used in study II.

Studies of the needs of persons frequently visiting PERs are scarce (Sirotich et al., 2016). However, in the literature, the needs of persons with severe mental illness (primarily schizophrenia) have been investigated, both internationally (Slade et al., 1998, Lasalvia et al., 2000, Power et al., 2013, Stefanatou et al., 2014) and in a Swedish context (Bengtsson-Tops and Hansson, 1999, Arvidsson, 2001, Wennström et al., 2004, Wennström and Wiesel, 2006). Yet previous research has concentrated on just one particular diagnosis (i.e., schizophrenia) and on settings other than PERs.

Several studies have found high agreement between self-assessed patient needs and staff-assessed patient needs, implying that CAN and CANSAS are good screening tools to be used in clinical settings by patients suffering from mental illness (Slade et al., 1996, Arvidsson, 2001, Ponizovsky et al., 2014, Stefanatou et al., 2014). Furthermore, in line with a person-centred approach, this thesis focuses solely on patients' self-assessment of their needs to learn about the subjective experience of the need areas of persons who frequently visit PERs. In a Nordic context, there is a lack of studies investigating the needs in general and the selfassessed needs in particular of persons frequently visiting PERs.

# Aim

### Overall aim of the thesis

The overall aim of the thesis was to investigate who persons frequently visiting psychiatric emergency rooms in Sweden are and what needs they have.

### Specific aims

I: The aims of the study were: (1) to describe persons visiting Swedish PERs and (2) to compare persons who frequently and infrequently visit PERs in terms of group size, age, gender, PER location (inside versus outside the home municipality), diagnosis (ICD 10), temporal patterns of visits, and hospital admissions.

II: The aim of the study was to investigate in which need areas in life, persons who frequently visit psychiatric emergency rooms self-express and self-assess problems.

## Theoretical framework

Persons who frequently visit PERs are at the centre of this research. The context in which healthcare is delivered is the PER, though the broader environment, i.e., the life situation of persons frequently visiting PERs, is also taken into account. This thesis is situated in the context of health science and nursing as it is concerned with the delivery of healthcare by health professionals and with the improvement of health of humans. Health science in general and nursing in particular apply a humanistic and holistic view of the person, so her subjective experiences of her life situation are of importance. The patient is thus seen as the expert (Dahlberg and Segesten, 2010). In the discipline of nursing, models and theories apply a metaparadigm consisting of four main concepts: person, environment, health, and nursing (Fawcett, 1995, Basford and Slevin, 2003).

The person is regarded as active, equal and unique and should be treated and met according to her prerequisites. A person is viewed holistically as consisting of biological, psychological, social, cultural, and spiritual dimensions that are acknowledged (cf. Arvidsson and Skärsäter, 2006, PRF & SSF, 2014, Brenner et al., 2016). The person-centred approach (McCormack and McCance, 2006, McCormack and McCance, 2017) incorporates these values, and is in line with the holistic perspective and nursing's outlook on the person. Thus person-centredness is the basis of the thesis' theoretical framework. Within the psychiatric care context, such holistic, person-centred theory was developed by Barker and Buchanan-Barker in the late 1990s, in what is called the 'Tidal model' (2005, 2010). This mid-range nursing theory can be applied as both a philosophy and/or a practical guide. Central concepts of the Tidal model are the empowerment and autonomy of the person in care. As implied by humanism and person-centredness, the person's positive qualities and life experiences are emphasized. Furthermore, the Tidal model also serves as a recovery model, as the person is believed to have the capacity to change, i.e., to possess resources on its own for recovery. It is a pragmatic and respectful approach to identifying problems of living.

# Methods

### Design

The philosophical view proposed here is pragmatism, which opens the door for multiple methods, viewpoints, and assumptions, as well as multiple forms of data collection techniques, analysis, and procedures (Creswell, 2014). Pragmatism stresses free choice in designing studies in order to fit the specific purpose of the research. This implies that the objective of the study is more important than the specific methods to be used to address it (Richards and Hallberg, 2015). Pragmatism, as the word suggests, is practical, i.e., the approach that best fits the actual research problem should be applied. It also goes hand in hand with the practice relevance of this thesis, since the project was initiated by professionals within a psychiatric care unit that also participated in the data collection (II).

The thesis incorporates both quantitative (I) and mixed-methods (II) research designs. By combining the methods and exploiting their specific strengths, more insight can be gained, facilitating a better and deeper understanding of the phenomena under investigation. An overview of the methods and designs used is given in Table 1.

Studies	Design	Sample	Data collection	Analysis
Study I	Cross-sectional, descriptive, and quantitative	All visitors to PERs in one county in southern Sweden (N = 27,282)	Register study of archival data	Descriptive statistics and chi-square tests
Study II	Cross-sectional and mixed methods <sup>1</sup>	Visitors (5 + visits) to a selected PER in Sweden ( <i>n</i> = 81)	A - Individual interviews B - CANSAS B - AUDIT B - DUDIT C - brief ISSI D - Interpersonal violence	Qualitative content analysis <sup>2</sup> Descriptive statistics, chi-square tests, and Mann-Whitney U tests

#### Table 1. Overview of the thesis.

In accordance with <sup>1</sup>Creswell (2014) and <sup>2</sup>Graneheim and Lundman (2004).

The thesis is part of a more comprehensive research project with the aim of developing, implementing, and pilot testing a care model based on the needs of

persons who frequently visit PERs. The main project was initiated by the management of a PER in a southern Swedish county, which motivated the decision to conduct study II at that particular PER.

### Research context

PERs serve as the context of this thesis. The two studies included in this thesis were conducted in one county in southern Sweden. That county has roughly 1.3 million inhabitants (Statistics Sweden, 2015), representing 13.2% of Sweden's population and consisting of both urban and rural areas.

In study I, all PERs (N = 4) in the county were included while in study II, data were collected in one PER in the county, i.e., the PER initiating the research project, whose triage nurses were involved in the data collection. This PER is part of the hospital of a larger town and serves a catchment area of around 200,000 inhabitants (Statistics Sweden, 2015). It has open access 24 hours a day, seven days a week and is connected to a psychiatric intensive care unit with several beds for short-term stays of up to two days.

Persons presenting at that PER undergo triage, i.e., meet a triage nurse, based on their turn. During the waiting time, which may be long, some patients might need to be reassessed and sometimes triage nurses may change shifts. After triage and following payment of the patient fee to the medical secretary, most of the patients meet a medical intern (who is stationed at the PER for a few months for educational purposes). After meeting the patient, the medical intern consults with a specialized senior physician or on-call physician, who on case to case bases also meets the patient. Patients not meeting with a medical intern usually present at the PER for counselling or medicine retrieval. After seeing the medical intern (and specialized physician or on-call physician), the patient meets with the triage nurse once more for intervention purposes, for example, hospital admission or medication distribution. Teamwork and collaboration between nurses and physicians are close.

The RETTS-psy triage system is used in the selected PER (II), as it is in most PERs in Sweden (SBU 2010). It is an assessment tool that helps the triage nurse sort and prioritize the patients according to their medical needs, i.e., the severity of their illness. It is based on five levels of priority and involves both the measurement of vital variables and a specific algorithm, i.e., Emergency Signs and Symptoms (ESS) (Magnusson et al., 2016). Triage assessment also helps to minimize the risk of subjective evaluations. The work experience level of the involved triage nurses (n = 16) was not investigated; they consisted of registered general nurses, registered psychiatric nurses, (psychiatric) assistant nurses, and

mental care assistants who had substantially varying levels of education and experience within triage. In Sweden, as in the other Nordic countries, Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders, version 10 (ICD-10) is mainly used (WHO, 1992). It is a diagnostic manual that provides a common language for reporting and monitoring psychiatric diseases, which allows for comparison and standardization (WHO, 2018) from the outside perspective, i.e., biomedical perspective. Yet according to Stein et al. and others (cf. Andrews et al., 1999, Stein et al., 2010), some criticism remains against clinical manuals such as ICD and the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), not least regarding their definitions of the term 'mental disorder' and their inclusion of various concepts such as stress and disability. In this thesis, it is acknowledged that mental illness includes severe psychiatric problems with clinical diagnoses, i.e., diagnostic categories, as well as minor or moderate mental conditions falling short of diagnostic criteria, though negatively affecting the person's everyday life (Bremberg and Dalman, 2015, Public Health Agency of Sweden (Folkhälsomyndigheten), 2016).

### Data collection

#### Study I

Study I was a large-scale register study; register data were drawn retrospectively for the years 2013–2015 from the support database for care recipients from the county's central management division in June 2016. Applied inclusion criteria (i.e., providing 24-hour service, a triage system, open referral system, telephone helplines, and beds for acute short-term stays in a specialized inpatient psychiatric intensive care unit) identified four PERs in the chosen county. A dependency centre was excluded since it did not fulfil all the inclusion criteria.

The variables collected were age, gender, PER location inside versus outside the home municipality, diagnosis (ICD 10), temporal patterns of visits, and hospital admissions. One diagnosis was registered per visit in the register. Temporal patterns included day of the month (1-31), day of the week (Monday–Sunday), and time of day (morning shift 07:00–14:59, afternoon shift 15:00–22:59, and night shift 23:00–06:59).

#### Study II

For study II, data were collected at one PER located in southern Sweden. Data were collected from December 2015 to May 2016 by triage nurses by means of face-to-face interviews using a structured interview manual, developed in collaboration with researchers, service user organizations, and PER professionals. The choice to collect data by triage nurses was motivated by the fact that the research project was initiated by the management and staff of this PER and because resources could be supplied to allow for this participatory approach. The data-collection approach also helped protect the integrity of the patients and make them feel more comfortable with the interview situation. All triage nurses received one day of training in how to perform an interview according to the interview manual. One triage nurses were involved in the data collection due to the stressful workplace situation. Each interview lasted around 30–45 minutes and was interviewer administered, i.e., all questions were read out loud and answers were written down by the interviewer with the agreement of the participants.

The first part of the interview manual covered background characteristics such as gender, age, and home municipality. In the next part (A), four qualitative openended questions about self-expressed needs were asked, concerning the motives for their visits and what kind of help they receive at the PER. Open-ended questions were used to give the participants the opportunity to freely discuss their problems, relating to the PER, their everyday life, or their health. Since needs assessment tools consist of pre-defined need domains, it was felt important to investigate whether other problem areas could be identified by using open-ended questions. The answers were written down by the interviewer, mainly verbatim or sometimes in paragraph form. In the third part of the interview manual, instruments commonly used for assessing needs in persons with mental health problems were used. This part collected quantitative data and included (B) the Camberwell Assessment of Need Short Appraisal Schedule (CANSAS). To capture a more comprehensive and detailed picture of needs concerning alcohol/drug abuse and social network, the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT), Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) and (C) part of the Interview Schedule for Social Interaction (ISSI) were used as well. Since CANSAS does not cover needs related to interpersonal violence, which previous studies have noted that persons with mental health problems are often subjected to (Howard et al., 2010, Bengtsson-Tops and Ehliasson, 2012, Oram et al., 2013), three dichotomous questions (D) concerning interpersonal violence covering experiences of threats, physical violence, and sexual abuse within the last year were added.

#### CANSAS

*CANSAS* (Phelan et al., 1995, Ericson, 2013) is an instrument for assessing persons' needs within a psychiatric context. It consists of 22 pre-defined domains of needs, each represented by one question, experienced within the last month: accommodation, food, household skills, self-care, daytime activities, physical health, psychotic symptoms, information about condition and treatment, psychological distress, safety to self, safety to others, alcohol, drugs, company, intimate relationships, sexual expression, child care, basic education, telephone, public transport, money, and social benefits. CANSAS provides the ability to add additional domains that fit the context of the study, so the domain 'dental care' was added (Bengtsson-Tops and Hansson, 1999).

In the first section of the instrument, which was used in this study, the prevalence and severity of the needs experienced by persons who frequently visit PERs were self-assessed using a three-point-scale: 0 = no need, 1 = met need, and 2 = unmetneed. A rating of 9 = not known was used when the patient did not know or did not want to answer questions within specific domains. The instrument produces three scores: *total needs*, *total met needs*, and *total unmet needs*. CANSAS is a validated instrument (e.g. Phelan et al., 1995) and has been used in different psychiatric care contexts (e.g., Kulhara et al., 2010, Zahid and Ohaeri, 2013).

#### AUDIT and DUDIT

The Swedish versions of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Babor et al., 2001, Bergman and Källmén, 2002) and the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) (Berman et al., 2003) were used for the visitors' self-assessment of frequencies and amounts of intake of alcohol and drugs. The scales consist of 10 and 11 questions, respectively, and result in scores of 0–40 and 0–44. AUDIT scores of 8 in men and 6 in women indicate hazardous and harmful alcohol use or alcohol dependency (Källmén et al., 2007). For DUDIT, scores of 6 in men and 2 in women were used (Berman et al., 2005). Both AUDIT and DUDIT are widely used screening instruments that have good psychometric standards in various psychiatric care contexts (Hildebrand, 2015, Lundin et al., 2015).

#### ISSI

Parts of the *Interview Schedule for Social Interaction* (ISSI) (Undén and Orth-Gomér, 1989, Eklund et al., 2007) from the sub-scale 'Availability of social interaction' were used consisting of four questions, to investigate the social networks of persons who frequently visit PERs. Answers categorically ranking six options ranging from 'No-one' to 'More than 15 people' were provided.

### Participants

As stated earlier, five visits or more within a period of 12 months was used to define persons who frequently visit PERs.

#### Study I

A total of 27,282 patients participated in study I based on their visits made to PERs during the 2013–2015 period, resulting in 67,031 visits. There was a relatively even gender distribution (50.9% women, 49.1% men) and the mean age of the participants was 42.6 years (SD  $\pm$  17.8).

#### Study II

A total of 81 persons participated in study II, which corresponds to a response rate of 62.3%. Persons suffering from acute psychosis or severe aggression were excluded, as were persons coming with police assistance or who were intoxicated (n = 47). An additional 11 persons declined participation and 38 persons were not asked to participate due to the high workload of the staff. Participants were persons frequently visiting the PER. Of the participants, 56.8% (n = 46) were men and the mean age was 39.74 years (SD ± 15.6).

### Analysis

#### Statistics

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software by IBM, version 23.0  $\odot$  (I, II) by MS and JE.

In study I, descriptive statistics (i.e., numbers, percentages, and means) were used to present the participants' background information (e.g., sociodemographic characteristics) as well as results (e.g., diagnosis frequency). Furthermore, Chisquare tests in combination with Bonferroni correction (Field, 2013) were used in comparing differences between categorical variables for persons with one to four visits or five and more visits with regards to age groups, most common diagnoses, temporal patterns of visits, and temporal patterns of hospital admissions. Confidence intervals (95%) (Field, 2013) were calculated when estimating the size of differences in proportions and significant differences in age groups, diagnoses, and temporal patterns of visits.

In study II, descriptive statistics (i.e., numbers, percentages, means, and medians) were used to present the participants' background information. Medians were used to dichotomize the continuous variables age (20–36 and 37–82 years) and number of visits (5–7 and 8–112 PER visits). Chi-square tests in combination with Bonferroni correction (Field, 2013) were used in comparing differences between categorical variables, for example, gender differences or number of visits, with regards to specific CANSAS need domains (i.e., interpersonal violence and social interactions) and to explore the relationship, if any, with alcohol and drug problems. Mann-Whitney U tests (Field, 2013) were performed to test for differences between categorical variables (i.e., gender, dichotomized number of needs, and dichotomized age) and continuous measures (i.e., total need, unmet need, and met need scores).

A drop-out analysis was performed comparing participants with the total number of excluded patients, those not asked to participate, and those who declined by using a Chi-square test with regard to gender and a Mann-Whitney U test with regard to age (II).

P values of .05 or less were considered to be statistically significant (I, II).

#### Qualitative content analysis

When analysing the four open-ended qualitative questions of part A of the interview manual, a content analysis was performed (II) inspired by Graneheim and Lundman (2004). Content analyses are used to analyse written or verbal communication in a systematic way (Krippendorff, 2013). As any text can have multiple meanings, there is always a certain degree of interpretation when analysing them (Graneheim and Lundman, 2004). Furthermore, an interpretation can have varying levels of depth and abstraction. Graneheim and Lundman's (2004) analysis process includes selecting meaning units, condensing, clustering (i.e., forming content areas), and abstracting (i.e., coding and forming categories and themes). This method emphasizes differences and similarities within categories and includes manifest (what does the text say) and latent (what is the text talking about) analysis of the text.

In study II, analysis of the manifest content of the text was performed due to the level of richness and amount of data collected by MS and ABT. This started with repeatedly reading the text, comprising 16 A4 pages in total, to obtain a sense of the whole. Verbatim text was formed to meaning units, and condensed. The content was then sorted into clusters (Barroso et al., 1997), also called content

areas (Graneheim and Lundman, 2004). Thereafter, the data were labelled into subcategories and categories that are the core features of qualitative content analysis (Graneheim and Lundman, 2004), i.e., an inductive analytical approach was used (Elo and Kyngäs, 2008). This process continued until MS and ABT reached agreement on the manifest content of the data.

# Ethical considerations

Persons frequently visiting PERs represent a vulnerable group of society. Special care accordingly needs to be taken when interacting with this group of persons which requires good research planning and study design. The participants' involvement in the studies should by no means add to their already complex life situation, but rather should make them feel seen and heard.

The Helsinki Declaration's Ethical Principles (World Medical Association, 2013) as well as the four principles that lie at the core of moral reasoning in healthcare, i.e., respect for autonomy, non-maleficence, beneficence, and justice (Beauchamp and Childress, 2013), were considered and upheld in both studies to protect participants, gain the trust of the participants and the involved organization, and demonstrate integrity.

#### Respect for autonomy

The principle of autonomy is concerned with the participants' right to make their own decisions based on knowledge and understanding of all the risks and benefits of the study. It is the basis of the principle of informed consent. In study I, prospective participants were informed about the study through an advertisement in three local newspapers. The advertisement included information about the right to decline participation. Furthermore, the prospective participants were informed about the data to be included in the study and of the contact persons from both the research group and the involved clinical organization.

In study II, prospective participants were informed about the study by means of posters at the chosen PER. The patients were invited to participate by triage nurses after they had received triage assessment, i.e., while waiting. The letter of consent was read out loud for the participants and signed before the interview started. Based on this principle, triage nurses excluded persons who, for example, suffered from acute psychosis, severe aggression, or temporary intoxication that may affect their capacity to make competent, reasonable decisions. Though limited in the choice of location, the participants were asked where in the waiting room they would be most comfortable being interviewed, and the interviewer took care that the interview would not be disturbed or overheard.

#### Beneficence and non-maleficence

These principles refer to the value of research, doing good and to the risks of harming the participants or others in society. In studies I and II, data were collected in an anonymous manner for the researchers, and results were presented at the group level in study I. In study II, triage nurses were chosen to conduct the interviews, to make the participants feel comfortable and to protect their integrity. An additional reason for involving these nurses was to engage them in their work and involve them in research. However, the person-in-care may also have felt some degree of dependency on the triage nurses due to the high possibility of previously established contacts. Therefore, the patients were only asked for participation after the triage process, and of the invited patients, 11 declined participation. However, it was believed that the chance of being more comfortable during the interview with a known and familiar healthcare professional outweighed the possible risk of dependency. Certain questions in the interview manual used in study II may have caused psychological discomfort, for example, questions about physical or sexual abuse. However, contact information for support groups was provided by the interviewer in case abuse had occurred and if the participant wanted it. In the case of self-harm (i.e., suicidal or other selfdestructive behavioural tendencies) or harm of others, the involved physician would have been notified (which participants were informed of in the letter of consent). Triage nurse with main responsibility had vast experience in meeting the persons-in-care, and therefore had good expertise and knowledge regarding how to encounter persons frequently visiting the PER. The involved triage nurses received education from ABT in how interview-based questionnaires were to be used in study II. They also received education in research ethics.

The answers to the four qualitative open-ended questions were written down by the interviewer (mainly verbatim or sometimes paragraph form) instead of being audio recorded, to make the participant feel more comfortable. Part A of the interview manual intentionally contained a limited number of open-ended questions with no distressing content, so as not to cause discomfort for the participants. The manual-guided interview used in study II lasted around 30–45 minutes.

Questions were formulated to be easy to understand, and since the manual was interviewer administered, all questions were read to the participants. This strengthened the interaction with the person-in-care and helped engage them in meaningful dialogue and discussion, which seemed to be appreciated by the participants during the sometimes long waiting times. The research may be considered highly beneficial with regard to clinical/practical relevance. Since the idea of this research project originated from the studied PER, i.e., its management and staff, and the research is intended to develop and implement a need-based care model, the present results may contribute new knowledge that could improve not only awareness of this patient group among healthcare providers but, most importantly, improve the care this group receives in PERs and elsewhere, depending on how and where the model is implemented, and potentially meet their needs more efficiently. The development and implementation of the model, however, is beyond the scope of this thesis.

#### Justice

This principle refers to the participants' right to be treated fairly during the recruitment process. In study II, several patients were not invited to participate due to the high workload at the PER, which implies that this principle may not have been fully realized. However, when choosing to work with organizations, jointly collecting data with them, researchers have to accept the existing work conditions and contexts. Furthermore, study II was conducted at one PER in the county, whereas four were identified in study I. The decision to conduct study II at only one location was based on the fact that this PER had initiated the research project, so its staff could be involved in the research process.

Ethical approval was sought for both studies from the Ethics Board in Lund (Dnr. 2015/645, Dnr. 2016/181) (I, II) and the county's deputy medical director (I).

# Results

### Study I

Persons frequently visiting PERs represented 8.1% (n = 2201) of the total number of visitors but accounted for 38.3% (n = 25,695) of the total number of PER visits.

To investigate whether this group differed in any way from other persons visiting PERs, persons making frequent visits were compared with persons making infrequent visits. The study found differences between those two groups in gender, diagnostic profile, hospital admissions, and temporal patterns of visits. Differences were also found in the distance between the PERs and the home municipalities of the visitors. However, the results section of this thesis concentrates on reporting results mainly concerning persons who frequently visit PERs.

#### Age

Persons making frequent PER visits were on average 42.4 years old (SD  $\pm$  15.8) and did not differ in age from persons making infrequent visits (average age 42.6 years, SD  $\pm$  18.0). However, when investigating the age distribution in detail using age groups (i.e., 18–30, 31–50, 51–65, and 65 or more years), significant differences were found between the groups (p < .0001). Notably, the proportion of persons making frequent PER visits was higher among middle-aged persons aged 31–65 years.

#### Gender

Gender differences were found between persons making frequent and infrequent PER visits (p = .001), i.e., the proportion of persons making frequent PER visits was higher among men. However, by adding an additional variable layer of age group (i.e., 18–30, 31–50, 51–65, and 65 or more years), those gender differences only remained significant for the age group 31–50 years (p = .033).

#### Distance between PERs and home municipalities of the visitors

The proportion of persons making frequent PER visits was higher among persons living in a municipality with a PER (p < .0001). However, adding an additional variable layer of age (i.e., 18–30, 31–50, 51–65, and 65 or more years) revealed

that the above only remained significant for those aged 51–65 years (p = .001) and 65+ years (p = .041).

#### Diagnostic profile

Anxiety (F41), alcohol-related disorders (F10), and schizophrenia (F2) were the most common diagnoses among persons making frequent PER visits. Furthermore, when adding the additional variable layer of age (i.e., 18–30, 31–50, 51–65, and 65 or more years), findings indicate strong variation in the most common diagnoses for persons making frequent PER visits, as follows: 18–30 years, disorders of adult personality and behaviour (F6); 31–50 years, schizophrenia (F2); 51–65 years, alcohol-related disorders (F10); and 65+ years, anxiety (F41). Furthermore, with regards to all diagnoses from all visits made, n = 448 (20.4%) received the same diagnoses throughout the three investigated years, n = 621 (28.2%) received two diagnoses, n = 542 (24.6%) three, n = 311 (14.1%) four and n = 279 (12.7%) received five to ten different diagnoses.

#### Temporal patterns of visits

The temporal patterns of visits were investigated with regard to which day of the month (1-31), which day of the week (Monday–Sunday), and what time of day (morning, afternoon, and night shift) the visits occurred.

The visits of persons making frequent PER visits were equally distributed throughout the month, as were those of persons making infrequent visits.

With regard to weekdays, the proportion of visits was highest at the beginning of the week, declining towards the end of the week for both groups. Comparing both groups revealed that persons who frequently visited PERs were more likely to visit on weekends (p < .0001, 26.5% vs. 21.2%).

With regard to time of day, the proportion of visits was highest during morning shift, somewhat lower during afternoon shift, and much lower during night shift for both groups. Comparing the visits between the two groups, significant differences (p < .0001) were found between the afternoon and night shifts. Visits made during the night shift were more likely to be made by persons making frequent visits.

#### Hospital admissions

The proportion of hospital admissions was lower among persons making frequent visits than among those making infrequent visits (p < .0001, 28.9% vs. 31.6%). However, when adding the additional variable layer of age (i.e., 18–30, 31–50, 51–65, and 65 or more years), the proportion of persons making frequent visits admitted to hospital was found to be higher than that of persons making infrequent visits (40.5% vs. 32.4%) in the age group 18–30 years. In the other age groups, the

proportion of hospital admissions was higher among persons making infrequent visits.

#### Temporal patterns of hospital admissions

With regard to day of the month, all hospital admissions were evenly distributed throughout the month for both groups.

With regard to weekdays, most hospital admissions occurred early in the week, i.e., Mondays and Tuesdays, dropping toward the end of the week, which was the case for both groups as well.

With regard to time of day, significant differences were found between the shifts (p < .0001), i.e., the proportion of hospital admissions was highest during the night shift (39.2%), when fewest visits were made. When comparing persons making frequent versus infrequent visits, a significant difference (p < .0001) was found, with significantly more admissions among persons making infrequent visits during each shift.

### Study II

#### Self-expressed needs

Qualitative data revealed that persons frequently visiting PERs have self-expressed needs to 1) reduce acute suffering, 2) feel secure, and 3) have caring encounters with staff. All categories and subcategories are shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Categories and subcategories of	the content analysis.
------------------------------------------	-----------------------

Categories	Subcategories
Need to reduce acute suffering	Need to talk to someone Need for medication Need for hospital admission
Need to feel secure	Need for a professional approach Need for PERs to be accessible
Need to have caring encounters with staff	

'Need to reduce acute suffering' concerned finding relief from troublesome psychiatric symptoms, primarily anxiety/panic attacks, suicidal thoughts, and substance abuse, that strongly affected the participants' current living situation and activities of everyday life. Two participants described their situation by stating '[I] panic and [have] pain in my chest, I did not have time to sleep or eat or care for

my everyday life' (woman, 34 years old, 13th visit) and '[I am] thinking to come here instead of killing myself' (man, 35 years old, 32nd visit). This category comprised three subcategories: 1) 'need to talk to someone', which generated a sense of relief and was expressed in terms of: 'unburdening my heart' (man, 48 years old, 5th visit); 2) 'need for medication', including obtaining prescriptions or adjusting prescribed medication regimens; and 3) 'need for hospital admission', which was expressed by the participants.

'Need to feel secure' concerned PERs as a type of place. One participant expressed this need by stating: 'There are not that many knives here that you could hurt yourself with' (man, 23 years old, 19th visit). This category also concerned staff working in the PER: '[I] feel safe with the staff here' (man, 10, 41 years old, 6th visit), and the PER as providing a safe environment: 'I can come here instead of sitting alone and brooding; it's reassuring to know you can land here when your thoughts are at their worst' (man, 32 years old, 5th visit). The category comprised two subcategories: 1) 'Need for a professional approach', which involved being guaranteed privacy and secrecy when talking to staff, being taken seriously by non-stressed staff, correct prioritizing, competent assessment, and a fair triage process. The lack of this approach was described in terms of 'being unfairly treated by the doctors – feeling like an experiment' (woman, 49 years old, 11th visit) or 'the staff are substandard, not all are well suited for working in psychiatry' (man, 27 years old, 6th visit). The second subcategory was 'need for PERs to be accessible', which touched on PERs' close proximity and knowing 'that you can come round the clock' (woman, 21 years old, 5th visit).

The third category, 'need for caring encounters with staff', was described in terms of being taken care of, feeling welcomed, and being treated well, and involved being met with kindness and humanity. Participants expressed this by stating: 'Getting a smile makes me feel better' (man, 37 years old, 7th visit); and 'they listen and understand, don't give you the cold shoulder' (woman, 24 years old, 5th visit). This could also be expressed in terms of 'feeling like a burden sometimes, "here he comes again", so I avoid coming here', (man, 32 years old, 5th visit).

#### Self-assessed needs

According to CANSAS (23 need domains), persons frequently visiting PERs reported on average 9.52 total needs (SD  $\pm$  3.85, range 2–18), 2.89 met needs (SD  $\pm$  2.00, range 0–8), and 6.63 unmet needs (SD  $\pm$  4.09, range 0–16). No gender or age differences were found with regard to the need scores.

The most frequent assessed CANSAS need domains were: 'psychological distress', 'psychotic symptoms', 'daytime activities', 'intimate relationships', 'company', 'safety of self', 'money', and 'physical health'.

There was a significant difference with the total need score and the number of visits (p = .043), i.e., persons with more needs consequently made more PER visits. All the women participants self-assessed having problems in the need domain 'psychological distress' (p = 0.044, 89.1% of men vs. 100% of women). Self-assessed problems in the domains 'accommodation' (p = 0.018, 17.5% with up to 7 visits vs. 41.5% with 8 or more visits) and 'money' (p = 0.020, 42.5% with up to 7 visits vs. 68.3% with 8 or more visits) consequently resulted in more visits. Conversely, self-assessed needs in the domain 'physical health' resulted in fewer visits (p = 0.035, 62.5% with up to 7 visits vs. 39.0% with 8 or more visits). Finally, problems in the domain 'safety of self' were more often reported by younger persons (p = 0.018, 70.0% of participants aged 37 and younger vs. 43.9% of participants aged 38 and older), whereas needs in the domain 'dental health' were reported more often by older participants (p = 0.019, 32.5% of participants aged 37 and younger vs. 58.5% of participants aged 38 and older).

In total, any kind of interpersonal violence was experienced and reported by 41.8% (n = 33) of participants. More specifically, one third of participants (n = 29, 36.7%) reported being exposed to verbal threats, of which 22.8% (n = 18) were death threats, one fifth reported being exposed to physical violence (n = 17, 21.5%), and 11.4% (n = 9) reported being sexually abused. Gender differences were found among persons being sexually abused, with women experiencing more of such abuse, and death threats were significantly more often received by persons making more visits (p = 0.037, 12.8% with up to 7 visits vs. 32.5% with 8 or more visits).

In addition, the results indicate that the majority of the participants had limited social interactions. Almost two thirds (65.1%, n = 52) of the participants either knew no-one or up to two persons who could visit them and feel at home, and more than half (58.2%, n = 46) reported having no-one or up to two people with whom they could speak openly. Furthermore, nearly half of the participants (46.3%, n = 37) knew no-one or up to two people who had the same interests, and more than a third (35.1%, n = 28) reported meeting no-one or up to two persons to talk with during a week. With regard to common interests and speaking openly with someone, age differences were found, i.e., older participants reported having fewer contacts than did younger ones (p = .033; 7.7% vs. 34.1% and p = .029; 17.9% vs. 40.0% respectively).

Around one fifth of the participants self-assessed having problems in the CANSAS need domains 'alcohol' and 'drugs'; AUDIT and DUDIT scores, respectively, confirm those results by indicating associated dependency problems, but found slightly higher rates of 29.5% and 28.8%, respectively. There was a significant relationship between alcohol and drug dependency (p = .007): of 23 participants with alcohol-dependency problems, 11 (47.8%) also suffered from drug-dependency problems.

## Discussion

### Methodological considerations

This thesis consists of one quantitative (I) and one mixed-methods study (II). The use of different methods is recommended when deeper knowledge of a subject is sought (Polit and Beck, 2016). To investigate into persons who frequently visit PERs, register data (I), interviewer-administered questionnaires (II), and openended interview questions (II) were used and analysed statistically (I, II) and by means of qualitative content analysis (II). However, the methods and instruments chosen for these studies have both strengths and weaknesses that affect the studies' results, influencing their generalizability and quality (Olsson and Sörensen, 2011).

In quantitative research, internal validity (i.e., validity of the conclusions) and external validity (i.e., generalizability of results) are often used as quality indicators (Polit and Beck, 2016). The use of national registries for research is well established in Sweden and is considered a standard method permitting outstanding result quality (Swedish National Data Service (SND), 2017). However, it posed certain challenges for the study design. The variables chosen in study I were limited by the register, which is used purely for administrative purposes. Since the register contains only one diagnosis per visit, investigation into possible comorbidity was limited. Excluding a regional dependency centre located within the studied county affected the prevalence of substance abuse diagnoses; this affected the internal validity and therefore should be considered when interpreting the results of this study. Furthermore, by choosing a cross-sectional design, the visitors were defined as persons who frequently or infrequently visit PERs which was based solely on their visits from 2013 to 2015, entailing a risk of wrongly defining persons based on those visits only. For example, a person making four PER visits in January 2013 may be classified as a person infrequently visiting PERs, even though previous visits may have occurred in 2012 (which was unavailable information), posing a threat to internal validity. However, due to the high proportion of participation in study I, external validity can be considered very high. How far the results may be generalizable to other groups within healthcare or to other regions inside or outside Sweden, however, may be questioned. This is because the number of PER visits may be influenced by the availability of other facilities, by PER services being delivered differently (e.g., by psychiatric emergency ambulance or mobile assessment), or by the extent to which processes involve case managers or assertive community treatments (i.e., ACT and flexible ACT).

Overall, study II has a retrospective design; most questionnaires used in it refer to time periods of the last month (i.e., CANSAS) or the last year (i.e., AUDIT, DUDIT, interpersonal violence), which may pose a risk of recall bias, i.e., the correct answer may have been forgotten or was hard for participants to recall. Recruitment for study II proved to be a challenge. The staff workload at the studied PER was high, which led to a generous extension of the data collection period. Despite the extension, several persons who frequently visited the PER were not invited to participate (n = 38). An additional number of eligible patients (n = 47) were excluded due to their condition, although they represented the target group, which could in turn raise questions about the participants' and the study's representativeness. Yet a drop-out analysis identified no differences with regard to age and gender when comparing who was included and who was excluded. Despite the number of participants who were not invited to participate, the response rate was considered high, which strengthens the validity of the study, as does the use of data triangulation. Regarding data collection, the possibility that the participants may know the triage nurses, i.e., the interviewers, was high, creating a risk of dependency and thus affecting the credibility as well as confirmability of the study. Yet, that the interviewer and interviewee knew each other might also increase familiarity and hence interviewee openness in revealing sensitive information, which could be important for the participants, particularly in this study. Although participants self-assessed AUDIT, DUDIT, and ISSI, they might not necessarily view their alcohol use, drug use, or lack of interaction as a problem. Therefore, some level of interpretation with regard to these instruments may have been added by the researchers. Given that the data were collected in one PER, the generalizability of the results of study II should be viewed with caution and considered in light of the applied context, which may vary from the studied context. To enhance the trustworthiness of the qualitative part of the study, MS and ABT analysed the qualitative data first independently and thereafter jointly until consensus was reached. Quotations were used to validate the findings.

### General discussion of the results

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate who persons who frequently visit PERs are and what needs they have. The present results contribute to a better definition and description of persons who frequently visit PERs, which is the first

step in attempting to meet their needs better, reducing both their suffering and number of PER visits (Vandyk et al., 2013). In a Swedish context, this is the first thesis to examine this group scientifically. Persons who frequently visit PERs formed a relatively small group representing 8.1% of all visitors, yet they accounted for nearly two fifths of PER visits, in line with results of previous research (Pasic et al., 2005, Ledoux and Minner, 2006, Chaput and Lebel, 2007a). Furthermore, persons frequently visiting PERs differ significantly from other PER visitors with regard to sociodemographic characteristics, diagnostic profile, and temporal patterns of visits. Study I provides a detailed description of this group, how they utilize PERs, and when they are admitted, which, for example, differs based on gender or diagnosis, a finding well aligned with a recent study of persons suffering from mental illness and who are frequently visiting an emergency room (Vandyk et al., 2018). Study II complements study I by providing a detailed profile of this group's self-assessed and self-expressed needs, which occur in the physical, psychiatric, financial, emotional, and social need areas in life. The results indicate that persons who frequently visit PERs have complex, intertwined need patterns and suffer from psychological distress and psychotic symptoms that can be described as fundamentally disempowering, especially when PER visits recur (Barker and Stevenson, 2000).

#### Diagnostic profile of persons who frequently visit PERs

Persons who frequently visit PERs have a heterogeneous diagnostic profile. Not only does this profile differ from that of other PER visitors, but it appears to encompass a broad spectrum of diagnosis categories, with anxiety (F41) and alcohol-related disorders (F10) being the most common diagnoses, followed by schizophrenia (F2) (I). These results were strengthened by results of study II indicating that the vast majority of persons who frequently visit PERs also suffer from 'psychological stress' and 'psychotic symptoms'. These findings are in line with previous research stressing the high prevalence of psychotic and affective disorders among this group (Vandyk et al., 2013, Schmidt, 2018).

More detailed investigation of the most common diagnoses of persons frequently visiting PERs according to age groups revealed strong variation in the diagnostic profile, with each of the four age groups having a different most common diagnosis, i.e., disorders of adult personality and behaviour (F6) in the age group 18–30 years, schizophrenia (F2) in the age group 31–50 years, alcohol-related disorders (F10) in the age group 51–65 years, and anxiety (F41) in the age group 65+ years. In addition, study I confirmed that persons who frequently visit PERs receive several different psychiatric diagnoses at the same time or within a short period, implying a high degree of suffering. Study II contributed to that picture by revealing that the majority of persons who frequently visit PERs also have problems with somatic diseases. These results are confirmed by other studies

(WHO, 2013, Phelan et al., 2001, Blanner Kristiansen et al., 2015). This complex diagnostic profile of persons who frequently visit PERs may complicate correct diagnosing and thus the choice of adequate treatments. One way forward is to apply a person-centred approach, as proposed by Barker and Buchanan-Barker (2010), in which the person as a whole is taken into account, which resonates well with a holistic approach. By applying a holistic assessment, needs as well as personal and interpersonal resources can be identified (Barker, 2001). Furthermore, and in line with the above, viewing the person as a whole and as embedded in her context allows, those identified resources to be used when tailoring person-centred interventions in order to strengthen the person-in-care's autonomy, i.e., empower the person.

#### Temporal patterns of PER visits

PER visits made by persons who frequently visit PERs can to a certain degree be predicted. Investigation of the temporal patterns of PER visits in study I showed that more visits were made on Mondays than on other days. Few studies have examined the temporal patterns of PER visits. However, Arfken et al. (2002) confirmed that persons who frequently visit PERs make significantly more visits on Mondays than other days. They also found that visits are more often made by this group in the first and last weeks of the month; this could not be confirmed by study I, which reports an even distribution of PER visits by this group throughout the month.

Persons who frequently visit PERs have also been found to visit PERs on weekends more often than do other visitors. This stresses that persons making frequent PER visits need PER accessibility at any time, which can be confirmed by study II and previous research (Aagaard et al., 2014). In addition, Vandyk et al. (2018) confirmed that each PER visit by persons making frequent visits was experienced as necessary and unavoidable by these patients, regardless of the time and day.

Furthermore, study I demonstrated that it is somewhat possible to associate persons with certain diagnoses with certain work shifts. Persons suffering from anxiety (F41), for example, which was the most common diagnosis among persons who frequently visit PERs, are strongly associated with visits during morning and day shifts. These results are supported by a qualitative study noting differences in utilization patterns according to psychiatric diagnosis (Vandyk et al., 2018). Findings of diagnostic profiles and temporal patterns of visits may be used in planning and organizing PER services. Human resource planning and development in PERs could be aligned with the proportion of expected visits per shift to provide more flexible care based on patient needs, in line with a person-centred approach. According to the diagnostic profile prevalence and the number of visits, day shifts could be staffed with more personnel, including nurses specializing in depression

(F32) and anxiety (F41), while night shifts could be staffed with fewer personnel, but include nurses specializing in alcohol-related disorders (F10) and schizophrenia (F2). Regarding dual diagnoses, it may be a challenge to identify the primary diagnosis and underlying mechanisms, which might complicate decision-making on effective interventions, i.e., personnel might need extensive and broad knowledge of various kinds of diagnoses.

#### Need patterns of persons who frequently visit PERs

No previous studies have investigated the need patterns of persons who frequently visit PERs in Sweden, and very few have done so in an international context (e.g. Sirotich et al., 2016). The Camberwell Assessment of Need was previously used in a Swedish context to investigate the needs of persons suffering from severe mental illness who are in contact with psychiatric outpatient facilities; study II differs from these studies (Bengtsson-Tops and Hansson, 1999, Arvidsson, 2001, Wennström et al., 2004, Wennström and Wiesel, 2006) by instead investigating the needs of persons who frequently visit PERs. Given that persons suffering from severe mental illness comprise a subgroup of persons who frequently visit PERs, as diagnosis patterns in study I show, one could draw some parallels between the studies. Previous studies report a total need score of 6.2-6.4, both staff-assessed and patient-assessed, with the most common needs found in the 'psychotic symptoms', 'psychological distress', 'company', and 'daytime activities' domains (Bengtsson-Tops and Hansson, 1999, Arvidsson, 2001, Wennström et al., 2004, Wennström and Wiesel, 2006). It was further concluded that the number of needs did not change over a period of six years (Wennström and Wiesel, 2006).

Comparing those results with the results of study II revealed the same most common self-assessed needs: 'psychological distress', 'psychotic symptoms', 'daytime activities', 'intimate relationships', and 'company'. The total number of needs reported in study II by persons frequently visiting PERs is comparatively high at 9.52. The number of specific unmet needs, i.e., 6.63, among frequent PER visitors appears much higher than that among patients with severe mental illness, i.e., 1.53, 1.7, and 1.5 according to Wennström et al. (2004, 2006) and Arvidsson (2001), respectively. Study II found that 72.8% and 60.5% of needs in the domains 'psychological distress' and 'daytime activities', respectively, remained unmet, possibly reflecting the high degree of mental suffering that persons with frequent PER visits wish to be relieved of.

Persons who frequently visit PERs both self-expressed and self-assessed unmet needs concerning their own safety, including feelings of security, implying that not only emotional security (e.g., feelings of trust, support, and care) but also physical security (e.g., reducing suicidal thoughts and attempts at self-harm) is important in a crisis. In addition to the personal, internal dimensions of safety, the results indicate that feelings of safety in terms of external, environmental security are equally important for persons who frequently visit PERs, which offer a 'safety zone' for them. Those results are in line with the Swedish law that care should meet patient needs for safety and security (SFS, 2017:30) as well as with Barker's Tidal model, which suggests that the primary aim of acute psychiatric care is to provide a safe haven (Barker and Buchanan-Barker, 2010). Such care addresses immediate (i.e., critical) care needs to feel emotionally secure (Barker, 2001). Thereafter, transitional and developmental care needs involving both hospital and community services ought to create a care continuum (Barker and Buchanan-Barker, 2010). This continuum as well as good collaboration between patient and nurse in psychiatric and social care service settings are requirements for achieving the best short- and long-term outcomes for the person-in-care (Allen et al., 2003).

Furthermore, the results of this thesis emphasize that persons who frequently visit PERs self-expressed being subject to interpersonal violence, in verbal, physical, or sexual terms. Previous studies have demonstrated that violence against persons suffering from mental illness threatens their senses of self, self-esteem, and selfefficacy as well as their existence in general (Khalifeh et al., 2016), as would be the case in any person exposed to violence or suffering from mental illness (cf. Barker, 2001, Matheson et al., 2015, Evans and Feder, 2016), re-emphasizing the vulnerable disempowering position of these people. Triage assessment in PERs could better identify those persons and better collaborate with other organizations that offer relevant interventions (e.g., trauma-informed treatment or housing; e.g., Monahan et al. (2017)) by including a screening tool concerning exposure to violence. Barker's Tidal model is intended to re-empower the person and help her to recover (Barker, 2001). A empowerment approach to diagnosis and recovery processes could be part of a solution helping persons who frequently visit PERs, since it is intended to improve self-confidence and optimism (Arvidsson and Skärsäter, 2006). By creating a care continuum, as proposed by Barker and Buchanan-Barker (2010), persons identified as exposed to violence could be offered better long-term care based on establishing collaboration between hospital and community care. However, in a Swedish context, this collaboration has proven to be challenging due to division of responsibility and legislations (Brenner et al., 2016, Janlöv et al., 2016).

Persons who frequently visit PERs both self-expressed and self-assessed unmet needs concerning their social interactions. They self-assessed problems in the CANSAS domains 'intimate relationships' and 'company'. Furthermore, the present results indicated that the social networks of persons frequently visiting PERs were limited in terms of interactions (e.g., the number of talks during a week or rarely inviting friends home). Furthermore, these persons also expressed that talking to someone and caring encounters in PERs are valuable for them, since they constitute rare opportunities to start dialogue with someone. By talking to others about their problems, sharing their experiences and worries, they feel somewhat acknowledged as a person and human being. A study of PER visitors' self-expressed needs revealed similar results, identifying important needs such as being treated with respect and as a human being, talked to, listened to, and asked about one's needs (Allen et al., 2003). These talks may function as a coping mechanism (Ellison et al., 1989), which a functioning social network and social support would otherwise supply (Ozbay et al., 2007, Carver and Connor-Smith, 2010).

It can be concluded that persons frequently visiting PERs have many needs in various need areas in life that remain largely unmet. These areas are somewhat overlapping and primarily concern relief from suffering, safety (i.e., both internal and external safety), and social life (e.g., lack of interaction, exposure to violence, and lack of activities). These results reflect the high degree of psychiatric disability and vulnerability from which this group is suffering (National Psychiatric Coordination (Nationell Psykiatrisamordning), 2006). Furthermore, other studies have associated higher levels of unmet needs with lower subjective quality of life (Slade et al., 2005, Wiersma, 2006), suggesting that it is not the symptomology, disability, or functioning that is the cause of lower quality of life, but rather the level of unmet needs (Slade et al., 2004), which was found to be comparatively high in study II.

The results of studies I and II confirm that persons who frequently visit PERs have insufficient physical, psychiatric, emotional, financial, and social health based on their reported needs and unmet needs and consequently a possibly lower quality of life. Thus, not only are these persons languishing due to a lack of mental health, but also floundering due to a combined lack of mental health and presence of mental illness (Slade, 2010).

To improve the health of persons who frequently visit PERs, a positive approach to and outlook on health, including recovery, ought to be applied, focusing on the person-in-care's needs. According to Arvidsson and Skärsäter (2006), three internal as well as external conditions may be necessary to help the person once again participate in important life areas: (1) increase in autonomy, (2) being active in a social context, and (3) meaningful activities. This reasoning is in line with a person-centred approach (Barker and Buchanan-Barker, 2005). Based on the results of study II, persons who frequently visit PERs are expected to experience deficiencies in all three conditions. By regaining autonomy, both self-esteem and sense of self are strengthened, providing a foundation for recovery. Recovery is understood here as 'working towards better mental health, regardless of the presence of mental illness' (Slade, 2009, p. 126), emphasizing well-being rather than treatment of illness when regaining one's life, and finding meaning by reclaiming a valued identity and social roles (Slade, 2010).

However, it is acknowledged that the literature is somewhat inconsistent on how the assessed needs of persons who frequently visit PERs could be reduced by tailored interventions, on whether these needs decrease over time at all (Wiersma,

2006), and on whether certain needs are simply unmeetable. Often, the frequency of visits indicates chronicity and comorbidity, which are related to more unmet needs (Wiersma, 2006), further stressing the need for both short- and long-term solutions. A study conducted in Sweden by Wennström and Wiesel (2006) confirmed that no decrease in the number of needs was found over a period of six years; rather, there was some variation in these needs, which may make it difficult to fully predict need patterns in persons suffering from severe mental illness. Other studies either confirmed this stability in needs over time or found either a slight increase or decrease in the total number of (unmet or unmeetable) needs over time (Wiersma et al., 1998, Salize et al., 1999, Kallert et al., 2004, Hansson and Björkman, 2007, Arvidsson, 2008, Drukker et al., 2008, Arvidsson, 2010). Overall, it can be concluded that needs as well as unmet needs are prevalent in a broad variation in persons suffering from severe mental illness, vary over time, and are somewhat predictable in a certain region (Wiersma, 2006). These findings could be used as the basis of a person-centred care approach by facilitating tailored interventions that improve the delivery of psychiatric healthcare.

# Person-in-care's perceptions of triage nurses and other healthcare and social care services

When the person-in-care is in acute crisis, as persons visiting PERs are, only shortterm solutions can be offered, as well as providing internal and external safety (Barker and Buchanan-Barker, 2005, 2010). As study II demonstrated, staff working in PERs play a pivotal role in the visitors' experiences. Not only do persons-in-care need their caring encounters, but they also need staff with a professional approach and who talk to them. These results resonate well with a study by Allen et al. (2003) stressing the importance of staff having a positive outlook and reassuring attitude as to the possible recovery of the person-in-care. Slade (2010) proposed that hope-supporting relationships are necessary in order to help floundering people to recover (cf. Arvidsson and Skärsäter, 2006).

Triage nurses are of great importance as they often are the first to encounter the person-in-care, setting the tone for the patient's feeling of being understood and cared for (Sjöstedt et al., 2001). Staff within a psychiatric healthcare context also represent significant others in the patient's life who are fundamental to the patient's self-perception and confidence (Hedelin and Jonsson, 2003). Several participants in study II, however, said that triage nurses could be experienced as stressed and nonchalant, participated in non-caring encounters, and had negative attitudes towards the person-in-care, results that could be confirmed by other studies (Nyström et al., 2003, Vandyk et al., 2018). Such negative experiences may add to the feeling of loneliness originating in their illness, causing suffering from care (Nyström et al., 2003). Stress among nurses in (acute) psychiatric care settings is well known (Currid, 2009, Wang et al., 2015), while others have highlighted the feeling of powerlessness among nurses (Plant and White, 2013).

Yet it is fundamental for the person-in-care's recovery to have caring encounters and a good nurse-patient relationship to feel empowered, regain hope, and build self-esteem.

Previous studies as well as study II have confirmed that persons who frequently visit PERs already have numerous other contacts with psychiatric healthcare and/or social care services (Nordström et al., 2009, Aagaard et al., 2014). Nevertheless, they still use PERs because it is assumed that they are in too much crisis to use their other contacts, poorly understand network procedures, or, due to their complex service needs, have difficulties navigating the ever-changing, decentralised healthcare system (Arfken et al., 2002, Vandyk et al., 2013). Another possible reason for their reliance on PERs is that they are dissatisfied with the service provided by those other facilities, as was expressed during the interviews in study II. However, none of the participants reported having contact with case managers, who use a person-centred approach and strives for recovery, which may be of help in addressing the complex needs of that persons who frequently visit PERs (Janlöv et al., 2015). Case management have also been demonstrated to reduce both costs and emergency room visits among both the general population (Althaus et al., 2011, Soril et al., 2015) and those using psychiatric services (Björkman and Hansson, 2007).

Good alignment between psychiatric healthcare and social care services is of profound importance in establishing continuity of care, which is also stipulated by Swedish law (SFS, 2017:30). According to Barker (2000), the primary focus ought to be on the person's needs rather than the healthcare setting. This was strengthened by the findings of two review studies within the area (Vandyk et al., 2013, Schmidt, 2018) that singled out continuity of care as a key factor in improving care, meeting patient needs, and reducing PER visits. However, if persons who frequently visit PERs are seen as 'hard to treat', 'lost causes', and not benefiting from social care services or psychiatric treatment (Koekkoek et al., 2006, Buus, 2011, Vandyk et al., 2013, Vandyk et al., 2018), continuity of care may be hard to achieve unless organizational prerequisites are established, staff views are changed, and/or staff are educated better.

# Conclusions

### Implications for practice

In line with a person-centred approach, it is suggested that persons who frequently visit PERs may require different PER triage processes, focusing particularly on reducing their mental suffering, identifying exposure to interpersonal violence, and improving social integration, which could facilitate care flexibility and interventions tailored to fit this group's needs. Furthermore, there is a need for enhanced collaboration with public and community-based resources and facilities (Fleury et al., 2011) to achieve better continuity of care and follow-up, which could consequently lead to improved care for the patients and fewer visits to PERs.

This thesis contributes to the development of more detailed knowledge of the persons who frequently visit PERs, helping care providers tailor interventions and care accordingly, i.e., improve the organization of psychiatric services, both inside and outside of PERs (I), according to these patients' specific needs (II). In addition, the findings could help in the early identification of those at risk of becoming frequent PER visitors, which could reduce prolonged suffering and number of visits in the future. The present results could also be used for educational purposes for nursing students and specialized triage staff. Finally, the finding of a surprising lack of contact with case managers could be of practical relevance in providing these patients with information about case managers when visiting PERs and in locating available case managers near their places of residence.

### Future research

It would be desirable to learn more about how to organise or/and structure the psychiatric healthcare context to more effectively meet the needs of, improve healthcare delivery to, and enhance the life situation of persons who frequently visit PERs.

One way forward would be to explore the resources and competences perceived to be required by staff working in PERs. For example, what type of learning, caring, and competence needs are expressed by PER nurses? When conducting study II, it was found that, during triage, the patients met with various professionals, who possessed different levels of education and experience. Study II also found that there was a certain degree of suffering caused by deficient care (also referred to as 'non-caring encounters' in the literature), which was expressed in terms of dissatisfaction with staff or not being taken seriously or understood. The cause of suffering from deficient care is mostly found in the relationship between the patient and the staff (Dahlberg, 2002), who instead should aim at reducing suffering and enhance health processes. Therefore, besides technical competence, staff may need to acquire specific competences for encountering persons who frequently visit PERs, so as to better meet their needs.

Another way forward could be to consider organizational and structural aspects that form the context of which persons who frequently visit PERs are part. For example, a better understanding of the role of PER structure and hierarchies could inform PER management practices, potentially meeting the needs of both frequent and infrequent PER visitors more effectively. Within this domain, one could further explore leadership practices and how these form the context in which PER nurses attend to patient care.

Finally, one more possibility would be to gain a better understanding of those persons delivering care to patients at PERs, i.e., staff working at PERs. Investigating their perspectives on work environment, and experiences of encountering and caring for persons who frequently visit PERs, could potentially contribute to improved work satisfaction for staff, which consequently could benefit the patients.

# Acknowledgements

Many people have contributed to the process of conducting this research. Therefore, I would like to thank:

- all participants included in studies I and II as well as operations manager Peter Södergren and his staff, in particular Mats Eriksson, at the Psychiatric Emergency Room in Kristianstad for research collaboration and valuable support in data collection in study II;

- my supervisors Ann-Christin Janlöv, Sigrid Stjernswärd, Pernilla Garmy, and Joakim Ekstrand for helping improve this thesis, being part of the research process and/or co-authoring the appended articles; and Anita Bengtsson-Tops, for co-authoring the appended articles.

- the Research Platform for Collaboration for Health for financially supporting my research, Anna-Karin Edberg and Albert Westergren as platform directors, and Therese Martinsson for efficient administrative support;

- all the doctoral and master students participating in the doctoral seminars provided by the Research Platform for Collaboration for Health;

- Gerd Ahlström and Anette Saltin at the Department of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, for enrolling me as a PhD student and for providing valuable advice and efficient administrative support;

- all the staff at LRC at Kristianstad University for generous and effective support in all related tasks;

- Marie Lindblom, for union support;

- Monica Granskär for providing comments on this thesis;

- Susanne Lindskov, Cecilia Lindskov, Cecilia Gardsten, Erika Hansson, Helene Åvik Persson, Gabriella Pozarek, and Emma Lindgren for friendship and emotional support;

- my colleagues at Kristianstad University for the encouragement and support; and

- my husband Timurs Umans for his patience, never-ending support, and belief in me.

## References

- AAGAARD, J., AAGAARD, A. & BUUS, N. 2014. Predictors of frequent visits to a psychiatric emergency room: A large-scale register study combined with a small-scale interview study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51, 1003-1013.
- AAGAARD, J., BUUS, N., WERNLUND, A. G., FOLDAGER, L. & MERINDER, L. 2016. Clinically useful predictors for premature mortality among psychiatric patients visiting a psychiatric emergency room. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 62, 462-470.
- ADAY, L. A. 2001. At risk in America: The health and health care needs of vulnerable populations in the United States, San Francisco, CA, John Wiley & Sons.
- ADEOSUN, I. I., ADEGBOHUN, A. A., JEJE, O. O., OYEKUNLE, O. O. & OMONIYI, M. O. 2014. Urgent and nonurgent presentations to a psychiatric emergency service in Nigeria: pattern and correlates. *Emergency Medicine International*, 2014.
- ALLEN, M. H., CARPENTER, D., SHEETS, J. L., MICCIO, S. & ROSS, R. 2003. What do consumers say they want and need during a psychiatric emergency? J Psychiatr Pract, 9, 39-58.
- ALTHAUS, F., PAROZ, S., HUGLI, O., GHALI, W. A., DAEPPEN, J.-B., PEYTREMANN-BRIDEVAUX, I. & BODENMANN, P. 2011. Effectiveness of interventions targeting frequent users of emergency departments: a systematic review. Annals of Emergency Medicine, 58, 41-52. e42.
- ALVES, M., ROCHA, T. B. D., RIBEIRO, H. C. T. C., GOMES, G. G. & BRITO, M. J. M. 2013. Specificities of the nursing work in the mobile emergency care service of Belo Horizonte. *Texto & Contexto-Enfermagem*, 22, 208-215.
- ANDREWS, G., SLADE, T. & PETERS, L. 1999. Classification in psychiatry: ICD-10 versus DSM-IV. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 174, 3-5.
- ANTONOVSKY, A. 1996. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. *Health Promotion International*, 11, 11-18.
- ARFKEN, C. L., ZEMAN, L. L., YEAGER, L., MISCHEL, E. & AMIRSADRI, A. 2002. Frequent visitors to psychiatric emergency services: staff attitudes and temporal patterns. J Behav Health Serv Res, 29, 490-496.
- ARFKEN, C. L., ZEMAN, L. L., YEAGER, L., WHITE, A., MISCHEL, E. & AMIRSADRI, A. 2004. Case-control study of frequent visitors to an urban psychiatric emergency service. *Psychiatric Services*, 55, 295-301.
- ARVIDSSON, B. & SKÄRSÄTER, I. 2006. *Psykiatrisk omvårdnad. Swedish*, Lund, Studentlitteratur.
- ARVIDSSON, H. 2001. Needs assessed by patients and staff in a Swedish sample of severely mentally ill subjects. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 55, 311-317.

- ARVIDSSON, H. 2008. The development of needs in a group of severely mentally ill. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 43, 705.
- ARVIDSSON, H. 2010. Gender differences in needs and care of severely mentally ill persons: findings from a Swedish cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 56, 424-435.
- ARVIDSSON, H. & ERICSON, B. G. 2005. The development of psychiatric care after the mental health care reform in Sweden. A case register study. *Nord J Psychiatry*, 59, 186-192.
- BABOR, T. F., HIGGINS-BIDDLE, J. C., SAUNDERS, J. B. & MONTEIRO, M. G. 2001. AUDIT: The alcohol use disorders identification test: Guidelines for use in primary care: Department of mental health and substance dependence. World Health Organization.
- BARKER, P. 2000. *The Tidal Model: from Theory to Practice*, Newcastle, University of Newcastle.
- BARKER, P. 2001. The Tidal Model: developing an empowering, person-centred approach to recovery within psychiatric and mental health nursing. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 8, 233-240.
- BARKER, P. & BUCHANAN-BARKER, P. 2005. *The Tidal Model: A Guide for Mental Health Professionals*, East Sussex, Routledge.
- BARKER, P. & BUCHANAN-BARKER, P. 2010. The tidal model of mental health recovery and reclamation: application in acute care settings. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 31, 171-180.
- BARKER, P. & STEVENSON, C. 2000. *The Construction of Power and Authority in Psychiatry*, Oxford, Butterworth Heinemann.
- BARKER, P. J. 1999. *The Philosophy and Practice of Psychiatric Nursing: Selected Writings*, London, Churchill Livingstone.
- BARROSO, J., BUCHANAN, D., TOMLINSON, P. & VAN SERVELLEN, G. 1997. Social support and long-term survivors of AIDS. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 19, 554-582.
- BASFORD, L. & SLEVIN, O., (EDS). 2003. *Theory and Practice of Nursing-An integrated approach to caring practice*, UK, Nelson Thornes.
- BEAUCHAMP, T. L. & CHILDRESS, J. F. 2013. *Principles of Biomedical Ethics,* Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- BENGTSSON-TOPS, A. 2014. Behov av vård och stöd. *In:* BRUNT, D. & HANSSON, L. (eds.) *Att leva med psykiska funktionshinder: livssituation och effektiva vård-och stödinsatser. Swedish.* Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- BENGTSSON-TOPS, A. & HANSSON, L. 1999. Clinical and social needs of schizophrenic outpatients living in the community: the relationship between needs and subjective quality of life. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 34, 513-518.
- BENGTSSON-TOPS, A. & EHLIASSON, K. 2012. Victimization in individuals suffering from psychosis: a Swedish cross-sectional study. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 19, 23-30.
- BENTALL, R. P. 2014. Western models for mental health: A cautionary note. *Commonwealth Health Parnerships*, 131-134.

- BERGMAN, H. & KÄLLMÉN, H. 2002. Alcohol use among Swedes and a psychometric evaluation of the alcohol use disorders identification test. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 37, 245-251.
- BERMAN, A., BERGMAN, H., PALMSTIERNA, T. & SCHLYTER, F. 2003. The Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) Manual. *Stockholm, Sweden: Karolinska Institutet*.
- BERMAN, A. H., BERGMAN, H., PALMSTIERNA, T. & SCHLYTER, F. 2005. Evaluation of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) in criminal justice and detoxification settings and in a Swedish population sample. *European Addiction Research*, 11, 22-31.
- BJÖRKMAN, T. & HANSSON, L. 2007. Case management for individuals with a severe mental illness: a 6-year follow-up study. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 53, 12-22.
- BLANNER KRISTIANSEN, C., JUEL, A., VINTHER HANSEN, M., HANSEN, A., KILIAN, R. & HJORTH, P. 2015. Promoting physical health in severe mental illness: Patient and staff perspective. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 132, 470-478.
- BOTHA, U. A., KOEN, L., JOSKA, J. A., PARKER, J. S., HORN, N., HERING, L. M. & OOSTHUIZEN, P. P. 2010. The revolving door phenomenon in psychiatry: comparing low-frequency and high-frequency users of psychiatric inpatient services in a developing country. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 45, 461-468.
- BOWLING, A. 2014. *Research methods in health: investigating health and health services*, McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- BOYER, L., DASSA, D., BELZEAUX, R., HENRY, J.-M., SAMUELIAN, J.-C., BAUMSTARCK-BARRAU, K. & LANCON, C. 2011. Frequent visits to a French psychiatric emergency service: diagnostic variability in psychotic disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, 62, 966-970.
- BRADSHAW, J. 1972. The concept of social need. *In:* MCLACHLAN, G. (ed.) *Problems and progress in medical care: essays on current research.* London: Oxford University Press.
- BREMBERG, S. & DALMAN, C. 2015. Begrepp, mätmetoder och förekomst av psykisk hälsa, psykisk ohälsa och psykiatriska tillstånd hos barn och unga – En kunskapsöversikt. Swedish. Stockholm: Formas, Forte, Vetenskapsrådet och Vinnova.
- BRENNER, E., RYDELL, P. & SKOOG, I. 2016. *Akutpsykiatri. Swedish*, Lund, Studentlitteratur.
- BREWIN, C., WING, J., MANGEN, S., BRUGHA, T. & MACCARTHY, B. 1987. Principles and practice of measuring needs in the long-term mentally ill: the MRC Needs for Care Assessment. *Psychological medicine*, 17, 971-981.
- BREWIN, C. R. 1992. Measuring individual needs for care and services. *In:* THORNICROFT, G., BREWIN, C. R. & WING, J. K. (eds.) *Measuring mental health needs*. London: Gaskell/Royal College of Psychiatrists.
- BROWN, J. F. 2005. Psychiatric emergency services: A review of the literature and a proposed research agenda. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 76, 139-165.

- BRUFFAERTS, R., SABBE, M. & DEMYTTENAERE, K. 2005. Predicting community tenure in patients with recurrent utilization of a psychiatric emergency service. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 27, 269-274.
- BUUS, N. 2011. Categorizing "Frequent Visitors" in the Psychiatric Emergency Room: A Semistructured Interview Study. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 25, 101-108.
- CARVER, C. S. & CONNOR-SMITH, J. 2010. Personality and coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61, 679-704.
- CHAPUT, Y., PARADIS, M., BEAULIEU, L. & LABONTÉ, É. 2008. A qualitative study of a psychiatric emergency. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 2, 1.
- CHAPUT, Y. J. & LEBEL, M.-J. 2007a. Demographic and clinical profiles of patients who make multiple visits to psychiatric emergency services. *Psychiatric Services*, 58, 335-341.
- CHAPUT, Y. J. & LEBEL, M.-J. 2007b. An examination of the temporal and geographical patterns of psychiatric emergency service use by multiple visit patients as a means for their early detection. *BMC Psychiatry*, 7.
- CRESWELL, J. W. 2014. *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches,* Los Angeles, CA, Sage Publications.
- CULYER, A. J. 1976. Need and the National Health Service, London, Martin Robertson.
- CURRID, T. 2009. Experiences of stress among nurses in acute mental health settings. *Nursing Standard (through 2013)*, 23, 40.
- CURRIER, G. W. & ALLEN, M. 2003. Organization and function of academic psychiatric emergency services. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 25, 124-129.
- DAHLBERG, K. 2002. Vårdlidande-det onödiga lidandet. Swedish. Vård i norden, 22, 4-8.
- DAHLBERG, K. & SEGESTEN, K. 2010. *Hälsa och vårdande i teori och praxis. Swedish*, Natur och kultur.
- DENCKER, K. & GOTTFRIES, C.-G. 1991. The closure of a mental hospital in Sweden: Characteristics of patients in long-term care facing relocation into the community. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 240, 325-330.
- DRUKKER, M., VAN DILLEN, K., BAK, M., MENGELERS, R., VAN OS, J. & DELESPAUL, P. 2008. The use of the Camberwell Assessment of Need in treatment: what unmet needs can be met? *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 43, 410-417.
- EKLUND, M., BENGTSSON-TOPS, A. & LINDSTEDT, H. 2007. Construct and discriminant validity and dimensionality of the Interview Schedule for Social Interaction (ISSI) in three psychiatric samples. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 61, 182-188.
- ELLISON, J. M., BLUM, N. & BARSKY, A. J. 1986. Repeat visitors in the psychiatric emergency service: a critical review of the data. *Psychiatric Services*, 37, 37-41.
- ELLISON, J. M., BLUM, N. R. & BARSKY, A. J. 1989. Frequent repeaters in a psychiatric emergency service. *Psychiatric Services*, 40, 958-960.
- ELO, S. & KYNGÄS, H. 2008. The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62, 107-115.
- EPPLING, J. 2008. First encounters: a psychiatric emergency program. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 34, 211-217.

ERICSON, B. 2013. Camberwell Assessment of Need, Standard version S 3.2 [Camberwells behovsskattning CAN-S 3.2] Questionnaire in Swedish.

- ERIKSSON, K. 1984. Hälsans idé. Swedish, Stockholm, Almqvist & Wiksell.
- ERIKSSON, K. & HERBERTS, S. 1995. [Mångdimentional health-reality and vision, final report 1995]. Swedish. VASA sjukvårdsdistrikt SKN Institutionen för Vårdvetenskap, ÅBO Akademi.
- EVANS, M. A. & FEDER, G. S. 2016. Help-seeking amongst women survivors of domestic violence: a qualitative study of pathways towards formal and informal support. *Health Expectations*, 19, 62-73.
- FAWCETT, J. 1995. Analysis and Evaluation of Conceptual Models of Nursing, Philadelphia, F.A. Davis.
- FIELD, A. 2013. *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics*, Los Angeles, CA, Sage Publications.
- FLEURY, M.-J., GRENIER, G., BAMVITA, J.-M. & CARON, J. 2011. Mental health service utilization among patients with severe mental disorders. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 47, 365-377.
- GAYER-ANDERSON, C. & MORGAN, C. 2013. Social networks, support and early psychosis: a systematic review. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 22, 131-146.
- GOODMAN, L. A., SALYERS, M. P., MUESER, K. T., ROSENBERG, S. D., SWARTZ, M., ESSOCK, S. M., OSHER, F. C., BUTTERFIELD, M. I. & SWANSON, J. 2001. Recent victimization in women and men with severe mental illness: prevalence and correlates. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 14, 615-632.
- GRANEHEIM, U. H. & LUNDMAN, B. 2004. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24, 105-112.
- GREEN, A. I., CANUSO, C. M., BRENNER, M. J. & WOJCIK, J. D. 2003. Detection and management of comorbidity in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 26, 115-139.
- HANSSON, L. & BJÖRKMAN, T. 2007. Are factors associated with subjective quality of life in people with severe mental illness consistent over time?—A 6-year follow-up study. *Quality of Life Research*, 16, 9-16.
- HANSSON, L., BJÖRKMAN, T. & SVENSSON, B. 1995. The assessment of needs in psychiatric patients. Interrater reliability of the Swedish version of the Camberwell Assessment of Needs instrument and results from a cross-sectional study. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 92, 285-293.
- HEDELIN, B. & JONSSON, I. 2003. Mutuality as background music in women's lived experience of mental health and depression. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 10, 317-322.
- HEM, M. H., HEGGEN, K. & RUYTER, K. W. 2008. Creating trust in an acute psychiatric ward. *Nursing Ethics*, 15, 777-788.
- HILDEBRAND, M. 2015. The Psychometric Properties of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT): A Review of Recent Research. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 53, 52-59.

- HOWARD, L. M., TREVILLION, K., KHALIFEH, H., WOODALL, A., AGNEW-DAVIES, R. & FEDER, G. 2010. Domestic violence and severe psychiatric disorders: prevalence and interventions. *Psychological Medicine*, 40, 881-893.
- INSURANCE AGENCY (FÖRSÄKRINGSKASSAN) 2017. Psychiatric diagnoses, Short analyses 2017:1.
- JAHODA, M. 1958. Current concepts of positive mental health. *Joint commission on mental health and illness monograph series: Vol. 1. Current concepts of positive mental health.* New York, NY, US: Basic Books.
- JANLÖV, A.-C., AINALEM, I., ANDERSSON, A.-C. & BERG, A. 2016. An Improvement Program as a Way to Intensify Inter-Professional Collaboration in the Community for People with Mental Disabilities: A Follow-Up. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 37, 885-893.
- JANLÖV, A.-C., GRANSKÄR, M. & BERG, A. 2015. Challenges Highlighted During Peer Supervision by Mental Health Nurses and Social Workers Recently Trained as Case Managers in Sweden. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 36, 809-816.
- JORMFELDT, H., BRUNT, D. A., RASK, M., BENGTSSON, A. & SVEDBERG, P. 2013. Staff's Experiences of a Person-Centered Health Education Group Intervention for People with a Persistent Mental Illness. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 34, 488-496.
- JORMFELDT, H., SVENSSON, B., ARVIDSSON, B. & HANSSON, L. 2008. Dimensions and reliability of a questionnaire for the evaluation of subjective experiences of health among patients in mental health services. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 29, 51-62.
- KALLERT, T. W., LEISSE, M. & WINIECKI, P. 2004. Needs for care of chronic schizophrenic patients in long-term community treatment. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 39, 386-396.
- KASTRUP, M. 1987. Who became revolving door patients? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 76, 80-88.
- KEYES, C. L. 2002. The mental health continuum: From languishing to flourishing in life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 207-222.
- KEYES, C. L. 2004. The nexus of cardiovascular disease and depression revisited: The complete mental health perspective and the moderating role of age and gender. *Aging & Mental Health*, 8, 266-274.
- KEYES, C. L. 2005. Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 539.
- KHALIFEH, H., JOHNSON, S., HOWARD, L., BORSCHMANN, R., OSBORN, D., DEAN, K., HART, C., HOGG, J. & MORAN, P. 2015. Violent and non-violent crime against adults with severe mental illness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 206, 275-282.
- KHALIFEH, H., ORAM, S., OSBORN, D., HOWARD, L. M. & JOHNSON, S. 2016. Recent physical and sexual violence against adults with severe mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 28, 433-451.

KOEKKOEK, B., VAN MEIJEL, B. & HUTSCHEMAEKERS, G. 2006. "Difficult patients" in mental health care: a review. *Psychiatric Services*, 57, 795-802.

KRIPPENDORFF, K. 2013. *Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology*, Los Angeles, CA, Sage Publications.

- KULHARA, P., AVASTHI, A., GROVER, S., SHARAN, P., SHARMA, P., MALHOTRA, S. & GILL, S. 2010. Needs of Indian schizophrenia patients: an exploratory study from India. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 45, 809-818.
- KÄLLMÉN, H., WENNBERG, P., BERMAN, A. H. & BERGMAN, H. 2007. Alcohol habits in Sweden during 1997–2005 measured with the AUDIT. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 61, 466-470.
- LASALVIA, A., RUGGERI, M., MAZZI, M. A. & DALL'AGNOLA, R. B. 2000. The perception of needs for care in staffand patients in community-based mental health services. The South-Verona Outcome Project 3. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 102, 366-375.
- LEDOUX, Y. & MINNER, P. 2006. Occasional and frequent repeaters in a psychiatric emergency room. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41, 115-121.
- LUNDIN, A., HALLGREN, M., BALLIU, N. & FORSELL, Y. 2015. The use of alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT) in detecting alcohol use disorder and risk drinking in the general population: validation of AUDIT using schedules for clinical assessment in neuropsychiatry. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 39, 158-165.
- MAGNUSSON, C., KÄLLENIUS, C., KNUTSSON, S., HERLITZ, J. & AXELSSON, C. 2016. Pre-hospital assessment by a single responder: The Swedish ambulance nurse in a new role: A pilot study. *International Emergency Nursing*, 26, 32-37.
- MATHESON, F. I., DAOUD, N., HAMILTON-WRIGHT, S., BORENSTEIN, H., PEDERSEN, C. & O'CAMPO, P. 2015. Where did she go? The transformation of self-esteem, self-identity, and mental well-being among women who have experienced intimate partner violence. *Women's Health Issues*, 25, 561-569.
- MCCORMACK, B. & MCCANCE, T. 2017. *Person-centred Practice in Nursing and Health Care: Theories and Practice*, Chichester, UK, Wiley Blackwell.
- MCCORMACK, B. & MCCANCE, T. V. 2006. Development of a framework for person-centred nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 56, 472-479.
- MOCH, S. D. 1998. Health-within-illness: concept development through research and practice. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 28, 305-310.
- MONAHAN, J., VESSELINOV, R., ROBBINS, P. C. & APPELBAUM, P. S. 2017. Violence to others, violent self-victimization, and violent victimization by others among persons with a mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*, 68, 516-519.
- MORSE, G., SALYERS, M. P., ROLLINS, A. L., MONROE-DEVITA, M. & PFAHLER, C. 2012. Burnout in mental health services: A review of the problem and its remediation. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 39, 341-352.
- NATIONAL PSYCHIATRC COORDINATION (NATIONELL PSYKIATRISAMORDNING) 2006. [What is psychiatric disability?] Vad är psykisk funktionshinder? Swedish. *Rapport 2006:5*.

- NICKS, B. & MANTHEY, D. 2012. The impact of psychiatric patient boarding in emergency departments. *Emergency Medicine International*.
- NORDSTRÖM, M., SKÄRSÄTER, I., BJÖRKMAN, T. & WIJK, H. 2009. The life circumstances of persons with a psychiatric disability: a survey in a region in southern Sweden. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 16, 738-748.
- NYSTRÖM, M., DAHLBERG, K. & CARLSSON, G. 2003. Non-caring encounters at an emergency care unit–a life-world hermeneutic analysis of an efficiency-driven organization. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 40, 761-769.
- OLSSON, H. & SÖRENSEN, S. 2011. Forskningsprocessen. Swedish, Stockholm, Liber.
- ORAM, S., TREVILLION, K., FEDER, G. & HOWARD, L. 2013. Prevalence of experiences of domestic violence among psychiatric patients: systematic review. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202, 94-99.
- OTTOSSON, J.-O., OTTOSSON, H., OTTOSSON, M. & ÅSGÅRD, U. 2010. Akut psykiatri. Swedish, Stockholm, Liber.
- OZBAY, F., JOHNSON, D. C., DIMOULAS, E., MORGAN III, C., CHARNEY, D. & SOUTHWICK, S. 2007. Social support and resilience to stress: from neurobiology to clinical practice. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)*, 4, 35.
- PASIC, J., RUSSO, J. & ROY-BYRNE, P. 2005. High utilizers of psychiatric emergency services. *Psychiatric Services*, 56, 678-684.
- PERSSON, G., DANIELSSON, M., ROSÉN, M., ALEXANDERSON, K., LUNDBERG, O., LUNDGREN, B., STENBECK, M. & WALL, S. 2006. Health in Sweden: the national public health report 2005. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 34, 3-10.
- PHELAN, M., SLADE, M., THORNICROFT, G., DUNN, G., HOLLOWAY, F., WYKES, T., STRATHDEE, G., LOFTUS, L., MCCRONE, P. & HAYWARD, P. 1995. The Camberwell Assessment of Need: the validity and reliability of an instrument to assess the needs of people with severe mental illness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 167, 589-595.
- PHELAN, M., STRADINS, L. & MORRISON, S. 2001. Physical health of people with severe mental illness: can be improved if primary care and mental health professionals pay attention to it. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 322, 443.
- PLANT, L. D. & WHITE, J. H. 2013. Emergency room psychiatric services: a qualitative study of nurses' experiences. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 34, 240-248.
- POLIT, D. F. & BECK, C. T. 2016. Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice, Philadelphia, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- PONIZOVSKY, A. M., ROTHSTEIN, I. & GRINSHPOON, A. 2014. The CANSAS selfreport for screening of needs in outpatients with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorders. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 50, 343-347.
- POWER, B. D., DRAGOVIĆ, M. & ROCK, D. 2013. Clusters according to patient need in a long-stay inpatient population with schizophrenia: does executive dysfunction underpin needs-directed care? *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48, 621-630.
- PRF & SSF 2014. Komptetensbeskrivning för legitimerad sjuksköterska med specialistsjuksköterskeexamen, inriktning psykiatrisk vård. *Psykiatriska Riksföreningen för Sjuksköterskor och Svensk sjuksköterskeförening.* Swedish.

- PUBLIC HEALTH AGENCY OF SWEDEN (FOLKHÄLSOMYNDIGHETEN) 2016. Folkhälsa i Sverige. Swedish.
- REITAN, T. 2016. Commitment without confinement. Outpatient compulsory care for substance abuse, and severe mental disorder in Sweden. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 45, 60-69.
- RICHARD-LEPOURIEL, H., WEBER, K., BAERTSCHI, M., DIGIORGIO, S., SARASIN, F. & CANUTO, A. 2015. Predictors of Recurrent Use of Psychiatric Emergency Services. *Psychiatric Services*, 66, 521-526.
- RICHARDS, D. A. & HALLBERG, I. R. 2015. Complex interventions in health: an overview of research methods, New York, NY, Routledge.
- RUGGERI, M., LEESE, M., SLADE, M., BONIZZATO, P., FONTECEDRO, L. & TANSELLA, M. 2004. Demographic, clinical, social and service variables associated with higher needs for care in community psychiatric service patients. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 39, 60-68.
- RYFF, C. D. & SINGER, B. 1998. Human Health: New Directions for the Next Millennium. *Psychological Inquiry*, 69.
- RÜSCH, N., ANGERMEYER, M. C. & CORRIGAN, P. W. 2005. Mental illness stigma: concepts, consequences, and initiatives to reduce stigma. *European Psychiatry*, 20, 529-539.
- SAARENTO, O., HAKKO, H. & JOUKAMAA, M. 1998a. Repeated use of psychiatric emergency out-patient services among new patients: a 3-year follow-up study. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 98, 276-282.
- SAARENTO, O., KASTRUP, M. & HANSSON, L. 1998b. The Nordic comparative study on sectorized psychiatry: characteristics of repeat users of emergency outpatient services in two Nordic psychiatric services. A 1-year follow-up study. *European Psychiatry*, 13, 35-40.
- SALIZE, H., KÜSTNER, B., TORRES-GONZALEZ, F., REINHARD, I., ESTEVEZ, J. & RÖSSLER, W. 1999. Needs for care and effectiveness of mental health care provision for schizophrenic patients in two European regions: a comparison between Granada (Spain) and Mannheim (Germany). Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 100, 328-334.
- SBU 2010 Triage Methods and Patient Flow Processes at Emergency Departments: a Systematic Review. Swedish Council on Health Technology Assessment, Stockholm, Sweden.

[http://www.sbu.se/upload/Publikationer/Content1/1/eng smf triage 110520.pdf]

- SCHMIDT, M. 2018. Frequent visitors at the psychiatric emergency room–A literature review. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 89, 11-32.
- SCHMIDT, M., EKSTRAND, J. & BENGTSSON TOPS, A. 2018. Clinical profiles and temporal patterns of psychiatric emergency room visitors in Sweden. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 72, 197-204.
- SFS 1993:387. [Act Concerning Support and Service for Persons with Certain Functional Impairments] (LSS) Lag om stöd och service till vissa funktionshindrade. Available at: <u>https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/svenskforfattningssamling/lag-1993387-om-stod-och-service-till-vissa\_sfs-1993-387</u>. Swedish. Accessed: 28 Feb 2018.

- SFS 2001:453. [Social Services Act]. Socialtjänstlag. Available at: https://lagen.nu/2001:453. Swedish. Accessed 28 feb 2018.
- SFS 2017:30. [Health and Medical Care Act]. HSL Hälso- och sjukvårdslag. Available at: <u>http://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/halso--och-sjukvardslag-201730\_sfs-2017-30</u>. Swedish. Accessed 18 dec 2017.
- SIROTICH, F., DURBIN, A. & DURBIN, J. 2016. Examining the need profiles of patients with multiple emergency department visits for mental health reasons: a cross-sectional study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 51, 777-786.
- SJÖSTEDT, E., DAHLSTRAND, A., SEVERINSSON, E. & LÜTZÉN, K. 2001. The first nurse-patient encounter in a psychiatric setting: discovering a moral commitment in nursing. *Nursing Ethics*, 8, 313-327.
- SKÅRDERUD, F., HAUGSGJERD, S. & STÄNICKE, E. 2010. *Psykiatri: själ-kropp-samhälle. Swedish*, Stockholm, Liber.
- SLADE, M. 1994. Needs assessment: involvement of staff and users will help to meet needs. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 165, 293-296.
- SLADE, M. 2009. *Personal recovery and mental illness: A guide for mental health professionals*, Cambridge University Press.
- SLADE, M. 2010. Mental illness and well-being: the central importance of positive psychology and recovery approaches. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, 26.
- SLADE, M., LEESE, M., CAHILL, S., THORNICROFT, G. & KUIPERS, E. 2005. Patient-rated mental health needs and quality of life improvement. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 187, 256-261.
- SLADE, M., LEESE, M., RUGGERI, M., KUIPERS, E., TANSELLA, M. & THORNICROFT, G. 2004. Does meeting needs improve quality of life? *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 73, 183-189.
- SLADE, M., PHELAN, M. & THORNICROFT, G. 1998. A comparison of needs assessed by staff and by an epidemiologically representative sample of patients with psychosis. *Psychological Medicine*, 28, 543-550.
- SLADE, M., PHELAN, M., THORNICROFT, G. & PARKMAN, S. 1996. The Camberwell Assessment of Need (CAN): comparison of assessments by staff and patients of the needs of the severely mentally ill. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 31, 109-113.
- SMART, D., POLLARD, C. & WALPOLE, B. 1999. Mental health triage in emergency medicine. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 33, 57-66.
- SMITH, P. H., MAZURE, C. M. & MCKEE, S. A. 2014. Smoking and mental illness in the US population. *Tobacco Control*, 23, e147-e153.
- SORIL, L. J., LEGGETT, L. E., LORENZETTI, D. L., NOSEWORTHY, T. W. & CLEMENT, F. M. 2015. Reducing frequent visits to the emergency department: a systematic review of interventions. *PLoS One*, 10, e0123660.
- SOU 1992. 1992:73 [Welfare and freedom of choice: service, support and care for mentally impaired]. Swedish (Välfärd och valfrihet: service, stöd och vård för psykiskt störda).
- STATISTICS SWEDEN 2015. [Population of the country, counties and municipalities]. Swedish.

- STEFANATOU, P., GIANNOULI, E., KONSTANTAKOPOULOS, G., VITORATOU, S. & MAVREAS, V. 2014. Measuring the needs of mental health patients in Greece: Reliability and validity of the Greek version of the Camberwell Assessment of Need. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 60, 662-671.
- STEFANSSON, C. G. & HANSSON, L. 2001. Mental health care reform in Sweden, 1995. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 104, 82-88.
- STEIN, D. J., PHILLIPS, K. A., BOLTON, D., FULFORD, K., SADLER, J. Z. & KENDLER, K. S. 2010. What is a mental/psychiatric disorder? From DSM-IV to DSM-V. *Psychological Medicine*, 40, 1759-1765.
- SURLES, R. C. & MCGURRIN, M. C. 1987. Increased use of psychiatric emergency services by young chronic mentally ill patients. *Psychiatric Services*, 38, 401-405.
- SWARTZ, M. S. 1987. What constitutes a psychiatric emergency: Clinical and legal dimensions. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law, 15, 57-68.
- SWEDISH NATIONAL DATA SERVICE (SND) 2017. Register based research. Available at: <u>https://snd.gu.se/en/data-management/register-based-research</u>. Accessed 16 Jan 2018.
- THE NATIONAL BOARD OF HEALTH AND WELFARE (SOCIALSTYRELSEN) 1997. [Good psychiatric care on equal terms?] God psykiatrisk vård på lika villkor? 1997:8. Swedish.
- THE NATIONAL BOARD OF HEALTH AND WELFARE (SOCIALSTYRELSEN) 2005. [Public Health Report 2005]. Swedish.
- THE NATIONAL BOARD OF HEALTH AND WELFARE (SOCIALSTYRELSEN) 2009. Swedish Disability Policy.
- THE SWEDISH GOVERNMENT 1994. [Terms for the mentally disturbed] 1993/94:218 (Psykiskt stördas villkor). Swedish. Stockholm.
- THORNICROFT, G., ROSE, D., KASSAM, A. & SARTORIUS, N. 2007. Stigma: ignorance, prejudice or discrimination? *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 190, 192-193.
- TOWNSEND, M. C. 2015. *Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing*, Philadelphia, F.A. Davis Company.
- UNDÉN, A.-L. & ORTH-GOMÉR, K. 1989. Development of a social support instrument for use in population surveys. *Social science & medicine*, 29, 1387-1392.
- USCHER-PINES, L., PINES, J., KELLERMANN, A., GILLEN, E. & MEHROTRA, A. 2013. Deciding to visit the emergency department for non-urgent conditions: a systematic review of the literature. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 19, 47.
- VANDYK, A. D., HARRISON, M. B., VANDENKERKHOF, E. G., GRAHAM, I. D. & ROSS-WHITE, A. 2013. Frequent emergency department use by individuals seeking mental healthcare: a systematic search and review. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 27, 171-178.
- VANDYK, A. D., YOUNG, L., MACPHEE, C. & GILLIS, K. 2018. Exploring the Experiences of Persons Who Frequently Visit the Emergency Department for Mental Health-Related Reasons. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 587-599.
- WANG, S. M., LAI, C. Y., CHANG, Y.-Y., HUANG, C.-Y., ZAUSZNIEWSKI, J. A. & YU, C.-Y. 2015. The relationships among work stress, resourcefulness, and depression level in psychiatric nurses. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 29, 64-70.

- WENNSTRÖM, E., SÖRBOM, D. & WIESEL, F.-A. 2004. Factor structure in the Camberwell Assessment of Need. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 185, 505-510.
- WENNSTRÖM, E. & WIESEL, F.-A. 2006. The Camberwell assessment of need as an outcome measure in routine mental health care. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41, 728-733.
- WHITEFORD, H. A., DEGENHARDT, L., REHM, J., BAXTER, A. J., FERRARI, A. J., ERSKINE, H. E., CHARLSON, F. J., NORMAN, R. E., FLAXMAN, A. D. & JOHNS, N. 2013. Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, 382, 1575-1586.
- WHO 1948. Preamble to the Constitution of WHO as adopted by the International Health Conference, New York, 19 June - 22 July 1946; signed on 22 July 1946 by the representatives of 61 States (Official Records of WHO, no. 2, p. 100) and entered into force on 7 April 1948.
- WHO 1992. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. World Health Organization, Devision of Mental Health, Geneva.
- WHO 2010. Mental health and development: targeting people with mental health conditions as a vulnerable group. Switzerland.
- WHO 2013. Mental health action plan 2013-2020. Switzerland.
- WHO 2017. Mental Disorders Fact Sheet. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs396/en/</u>. Accessed 12 Jan 2018.
- WHO 2018. International Classification of Diseases (ICD) Revision. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/revision/icd11faq/en/</u>. Accessed 2 Feb 2018.
- VIDEBECK, S. 2017. Psychiatric-mental health nursing, Philadelphia, Wolters Kluwers.
- WIERSMA, D. 2006. Needs of people with severe mental illness. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 113, 115-119.
- WIERSMA, D., NIENHUIS, F., GIEL, R. & SLOOFF, C. 1998. Stability and change in needs of patients with schizophrenic disorders: a 15-and 17-year follow-up from first onset of psychosis, and a comparison betweenobjective'andsubjective'assessments of needs for care. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 33, 49-56.
- VIGISER, D., APTER, A., AVIRAM, U. & MAOZ, B. 1984. Overutilization of the general hospital emergency room for psychiatric referrals in an Israeli hospital. *American Journal of Public Health*, 74, 73-75.
- VIGO, D., THORNICROFT, G. & ATUN, R. 2016. Estimating the true global burden of mental illness. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 3, 171-178.
- WIKLANDER, M., SAMUELSSON, M. & ÅSBERG, M. 2003. Shame reactions after suicide attempt. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 17, 293-300.
- WING, J., BREWIN, C. R. & THORNICROFT, G. 2001. Defining mental health needs. *In:* THORNICROFT, G. (ed.) *Measuring mental health needs*. 2nd ed. London: Gaskell (The Royal College of Psychiatrists).
- WORLD MEDICAL ASSOCIATION. WMA Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical reserarch involving human subjects. 64th WMA General Assembly, 2013 Fortaleza, Brazil. .

- VOS, T., BARBER, R. M., BELL, B., BERTOZZI-VILLA, A., BIRYUKOV, S., BOLLIGER, I., CHARLSON, F., DAVIS, A., DEGENHARDT, L. & DICKER, D. 2015. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990– 2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, 386, 743-800.
- WRIGHT, J., WILLIAMS, R. & WILKINSON, J. R. 1998. Development and importance of health needs assessment. *British Medical Journal*, 316, 1310.
- VUOKILA-OIKKONEN, P., JANHONEN, S., & NIKKONEN, M. 2002. Patient initiatives in psychiatric care concerning shame in the discussion in co-operative team meetings. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 9, 23-32.
- YOUNG, A. S., CHINMAN, M. J., CRADOCK-O'LEARY, J. A., SULLIVAN, G., MURATA, D., MINTZ, J. & KOEGEL, P. 2005. Characteristics of individuals with severe mental illness who use emergency services. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 41, 159-168.
- ZAHID, M. A. & OHAERI, J. 2013. Clinical and psychosocial factors associated with needs for care: an Arab experience with a sample of treated community-dwelling persons with schizophrenia. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48, 313-323.
- ÅSBERG, M. & AGERBERG, M. 2016. Psykiatrins historia. *In:* HERLOFSON, J., EKSELIUS, L., LUNDIN, A., MÅRTENSSON, B. & ÅSBERG, M. (eds.) *Psykiatri. Swedish.* Lund: Studentlitteratur.